
 

 

Carbondale & Rural Fire Protection District 
Meeting of the Board of Directors 

July 10, 2024 
11:00 a.m. 

Agenda 
A. Call to order & roll call 
 
B. Consent Agenda 

1. Approve Previous Minutes  
2. Current Bills & Balances 

 
C.   Persons Present Not on the Agenda 
 

D.  Staff Reports 
1. Chief’s Report 
2. Attorney’s Report 
3. Other 
 

E.   Financial Report 
1. 2023 Audit Update 
2. 2025 Budget Process Update 

  
F.  Old Business 

1. Other 
 
G.   New Business 

1. Colorado Cancer & Cardiac Trust Program Discussion 
2. Other   

 
H.   Adjourn 



 
CARBONDALE & RURAL FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT 
 
MINUTES OF THE MEETING                                      BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
 
CARBONDALE FIRE HEADQUARTERS                               JUNE 12, 2024 
 
 
The Board of Directors of the Carbondale & Rural Fire Protection District met for their regular meeting on 
June 12, 2024 at the Carbondale Fire Headquarters/Training Building. 
 
Vice-President Mike Kennedy called the meeting to order at 11:02 a.m. Directors present were Michael 
Hassig, Gretchen Stock Bell and Sydney Schalit. Also present were Rob Goodwin, Jenny Cutright, Garrett 
Kennedy, Meagan Holland and Eric Gross. Dino Ross attended via teleconference. 
 
 
CONSENT AGENDA 
The items on the consent agenda were:  

• Approve Current Bills and Balances 
• Approve the Minutes of the May 8, 2024 regular meeting 
 

MOTION:  made to approve the consent agenda as noted. It carried and passed unanimously. 
 
PERSONS PRESENT NOT ON THE AGENDA 
No members of the public were present. 
 
DINO ROSS, SENATE BILLS 194 AND 233 
Senate Bill 233 will place a 5.5% annual revenue cap on property taxes starting January 1, 2025. This bill will 
only take effect if another more restrictive bill is not passed by voters at the November 2024 general 
election. SB 233 could ratchet down revenues over time. This will also reduce the residential and 
commercial assessment rates, along with some actual value reductions.  
 
 
Senate Bill 194 can help diversify the District’s revenue stream. It allows Fire Districts to impose impact fees 
with a rational nexus, but without having to have it approved by counties and municipalities.  It allows for 
collection of certain fees. It also allows Fire Districts to collect sales tax with voter approval. 
 
General discussion regarding Senate Bills 194 and 233 followed. No action was taken. 
 
It was noted that the updated impact fee study is currently waiting to be added to agendas at county 
commissioner and town council meetings. The Board of Directors verbally approved removing the impact 
fee study discussion from any county commission or town council meetings. 
 



 
 
STAFF REPORTS 
Chief’s Report  There has been some good work done at Marble station to repair the damage from the 
Station 83 broadband project. The costs are being accounted and collection will be perused.  
 
The Aspen Glen cell tower project is on the agenda with Garfield County next week. It is expected that it 
will be approved.  
 
Spring Valley Ranch PUD developers met with Staff. They are interested in creating their own emergency 
services and were looking for some information. They noted that they have had public meetings about the 
development and have built a waste water treatment plant for the development.  At recent public 
meetings it was noted that people are concerned about traffic, water usage, and egress. Further discussion 
regard other properties in the area that are not in a fire district followed.  
 
Other The new ambulance is in service. Calls are up 29% over 2023. 
 
FINANCIAL REPORT 
FPPA Affiliation Agreement  FPPA is requesting an updated affiliation agreement from its members,  
 
MOTION:  made to approve the updated FPPA Plan Affiliation Agreement. It carried and passed 
unanimously.  
 
 
NEW BUSINESS   
Birthday Party  Thank you to the crew for attending a birthday party. It was noted that one of the children 
from the party was injured and felt comfort and relief he recognized the firefighters that came to help him. 
 
November Election Pitkin County Elections is requesting a response on if the District is planning to 
participate in the November election. Discussion followed and it was noted that the District is not planning 
to participate.  
 
 
MOTION:  made to adjourn the Board of Directors meeting at 12:17 p.m.  It carried and passed 
unanimously. 
 
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
 
___________________________ 



 
Jenny Cutright, Recording Secretary 
 
 
 
 
___________________________    
Gene Schilling, President                     



 
 

Chief’s Report & Updates – July 10, 2024 

 

 

Station 81 Operations Building Expansion Project 

We have been working with the Town of Carbondale on this process of obtaining a building permit since February 2024 
and are still in a position of having no permit to begin construction. In our first meeting, we discussed and agreed to 
begin construction by May of 2024 and we seemed to be on target for that start date.  
  
Since then, there seem to have been several issues that have contributed to a delay in the process such as, Town of 
Carbondale staffing issues and the need to use a third party company to conduct plan review. We have been as 
responsive as we possibly can be whenever there has been a question or issue that needed to be addressed and our 
team has worked diligently to get this project off the ground. 
  
The main issue seems to be that each time we have attempted to determine when we would receive a building permit, 
the agreed timeframe has continually moved to later in the year. The initial date moved from May 1st to June 1st, then 
July 1st and now most recently it looks like we will not be getting a permit until at least August. This has become a very 
difficult problem for CRFPD as the timeline for construction is approximately 5 ½ to 6 months. We began this process 
with the Town of Carbondale in February in order to perform the construction during the “season” and not have to add 
Winter Conditions to the cost of the project and have our responders deal with the added problem of responding 
around construction during the winter. Additionally, the extended length of the approval process is putting us in a 
position of paying increasing costs as sub-contractors will only hold their pricing for so long. 
  
I understand that the Town of Carbondale is facing staffing shortages and had folks that left the Planning and Building 
departments in the past year. This has to be a very difficult problem that you are dealing with. We are also struggling 
with staffing and keeping the level of service at the high standard that we have set. 
  
If we cannot figure this out soon, we are possibly looking at paying significant Winter Conditions costs or even the 
prospect of cancelling the project this year and starting up in 2025. If this happens, we will most certainly be breaking 
our budget significantly and incurring increases to the cost of the project. I feel that this really is not the best use of 
taxpayer funds and do not look forward to the prospect of dealing with a 2025 timeline. 
 
After writing the above information, I received a response from the Town Manager on the evening of July 3rd and will 
discuss the results of our discussions at the July Board meeting.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
 

 

 

Aspen Glen Verizon Tower Project Update 

On June 17th, Retherford Enterprises project manager Lance Bleyhl, Eric Gross and I attended a meeting with the Garfield 
County BOCC regarding the Verizon Tower Project. The Garfield County BOCC reviewed the project and received public 
input from many residents of the Aspen Glen subdivision regarding the project. the BOCC unanimously approved the 
construction of the Verizon cell tower as presented. Mr. Bleyhl told me that they hope to begin the project right away 
and have the project completed in the early fall of 2024. 

 

CRFPD Wildland Engine Deployment 

The wildland engine (84) and crews are still on assignment in Southern California as of this writing. We have completed 
two crew swaps and the third crew is working on the Basin Fire in Fresno County. Each crew performs a 14 day 
assignment before crew swaps. They have been actively involved in firefighting operation on several divisions of the 
Basin Fire. 

Wildfire conditions locally remain relatively calm in the central mountains and valleys of Colorado even as drought 
conditions have persisted and increased in both the eastern and far western portions of the state. We are attending 
weekly fire restrictions and conditions meetings with the counties from Summit in the east to Mesa in the west and are 
keeping track as conditions change. If fire conditions and risk increases in our area or if we experience significant starts in 
the near future, we will certainly re-assess our deployment program and bring the engine and crews back if needed. 

 

Thank you very much, 

Rob Goodwin 



 
 

Operations Report 
July 2024 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Important Events & Projects 

• Wildland crew deployed to California for wildfire initial attack. 
• Daily wildland fire initial attack patrols. 

• Mutual aid sent to Glenwood Springs for a structure fire. 
 

Respectfully Submitted, 

Michael Wagner – Deputy Chief of Operations  

June 2024 Responses  2024 Responses YTD 

Incident Type 2024 2023 % of Total 
Month/Yr 

+/-     
2024-
2023 

 2024 2023 % of 
2024 

+/-  
202-
2023 

Structure Fires 1 2 0.6% 100.0%  6 5 0.7% 20.0% 
Vehicle Fires 0 0 0.0% 100.0%  5 2 0.6% 150.0% 
Other Fires (100) 1 0 0.6% 0.0%  11 2 1.3% 450.0% 
Rupture/Explosion (200) 0 0 0.0% 0.0%  0 0 0.0% 0.0% 
EMS/Rescue (300) 83 56 52.2% 48.2%  396 399 46.8% -0.8% 
Haz. Condition (400) 1 5 0.6% -80.0%  23 24 2.7% -4.2% 
Service Call (500) 15 6 9.4% 150.0%  87 41 10.3% 112.2% 
Good Intent (600) 37 26 23.3% 42.3%  175 131 20.7% 33.6% 
False Call (700) 14 16 8.8% -12.5%  124 84 14.6% 47.6% 
Severe Weather (800) 1 0 0.6% 0.0%  1 1 0.1% 0.0% 
Special Incident (900) 6 5 3.8% 200.0%  19 16 2.2% 18.8% 

Total All Incidents 159 116 100.0% 37.1%  847 705 100.0% 20.1% 



Board of Directors Report – Prevention 
June 2024 

Completed Plan/code Reviews: 

• Iron Mountain Apartments review. 
• Access plan review for 437 N Thomas Rd. 
• Bar Fork drawing review.   
• Smoke/CO2 installation for Roaring Fork School District.  
• Carbondale Community School Fire Alarm system review. 
• Site visit for plans for the continuance of Colorado Extreme hockey rinks.  
• Site visit for expansion project for water suppression.  Lions Ridge HOA.  
• Flow Testing for St-81. 
• State Form 4070 filed for Bridges High School remodel.  
• Final for 1199 Village Red Suite 202. 
• ESS review for Power’s Museum.  

 

Inspections:  

• Inspection of added smoke detection at 1250 Heritage Park. 
• Inspection of oil Drum storage for Osmia skin care at 2607 Dolores Way.  
• Several Wildfire Risk Assessments completed.  
• Dinkle Building life safety inspection completed for remodel.  

 
 

Other Projects: 

• Meeting of the Fire Marshals of the Western Region. 
• Marble Serpentine project community update.  
• Added Bluebeam for plans review.  
• Builder’s risk insurance request for ISO elements.  
• Gunnison County CWPP planning meeting. 



Board of Directors Report  Brandon Deter 
  Division Chief – Training  

Administrative  
 

• Working with Training Consortium to create a 501C3 non-profit to facilitate expansion of 
the Consortium 

• Working with Training Consortium to consolidate training equipment to reduce valley 
wide Fire Department spending on redundancy of equipment/gear 

• Training division creating training packages for the members of CRFPD to facilitate 
organized trainings and meet requirements for DFPC, NREMT, & CDPHE 

• Training Division SOG implemented 
• Creating MFTF SOP for use of facilities and training building  
• Organized IQS in accordance with national standards  
• Scheduled NFA Command and Control class to be conducted at CRFPD in October 
• Preparing for fall Fire Academy with 20 students total and CEPA programs to begin in the 

fall.  
• Continuing with CMC to bring the AAS/BS Fire Science Degree to Carbondale and 

working on bringing the Paramedic Program to Carbondale as well 
• Working on recertifying several members of CRFPD with their DFPC certifications 
• Working with DFPC to allow CRFPD to be an authorized state testing facility 
• Working with DFPC regional training officer to become authorized to teach Fire Officer 

classes 
• Working on developing documents required by CDPHE to be compliant as a training 

center.  

Staff 
• Captain Taylor has created a SOG for CPR 
• Captain Taylor & Tyler have created a tab on CRFPD website for CPR sign ups 
• Lieutenant Close has done an outstanding job with developing and implementing Vector 

Solutions for CRFPD 
• Lieutenant Close is exploring an addition to Vector Solutions what will help facilitate 

training request process and task book development  
 
 
 
Professional Development 
Deter is finishing Masters Degree in Fire Administration  
Deter has completed Fire Officer II and is testing in July 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Board of Directors Report  Brandon Deter 
  Division Chief – Training  

 
CRFPD Training Hours – 775 
 

admin/hr Total 28 
ems training Total 38 
hazmat training Total 6 
other Total 3 
rescue training Total 113 
structure fire training Total 46.75 
wildland training Total 79 
Grand Total 313.75 

 

Respectfully – B. Deter  



1  

 

  
 
   

EMS Chief Report 
June 2024 

 
 
    EMS Patients June 2024 –  

•  EMS Patient contacts in June 2024 

 
     Projects and updates– 

• Manage EMS Ordering/inventory for CRFPD  
• Maintain supplies/medications in vending machine for CRFPD 
• Controlled substance monitoring and inventory 
• Fire/EMS Report review, NFIRS /NEMSIS submissions and Q&A 
• Worked with RFFR on an MOU for regional apparatus sharing 
• Began planning for 4th of July and Mountain Fair Special events 
• Coordinated a Quarterly CRFPD EMS committee meeting 
• Attended a Fire Investigation team meeting 
• Coordinated and ordered several fire related budget items  
• Ongoing Special Event planning/scheduling for 2024 
• Regular staff/Chief meetings 
• Covered On Call Chief rotation shifts 
• Incident response in district as needed 
• Controlled substance monitoring and inventory 
• Assisted volunteers/Staff with projects and task books as needed 

 
 

 
 
 

Respectfully submitted,  
Garrett Kennedy 
EMS Chief                                                                           



June 30, 2024 

          
Amount     Interest Rate 

General Fund 
Alpine Checking 174,586.25 0.00% 
Alpine Money Market Fund 2,954,273.97 5.45% 

TOTAL $ 3,128,860.22 

Capital Projects Fund #1 
Alpine Checking 65,600.51 0.00% 
Alpine Money Market Fund 2,073,031.30 5.45% 
Alpine Impact Fee Fund 99,506.56 5.45% 

TOTAL $ 2,238,138.37 

Capital Replacement Fund 
CSafe CRF Account $735,352.66 5.43% 

Bond Fund 
CSafe $ 560,421.68 5.43% 

Pension Fund 
FPPA $ 2,291,408.78 

Ambulance Billing Report 
Cash Collected on Accounts $ 32,281.62 
New Accounts Billed $ 22,556.00 
Medicare Assignments/Medicaid & Other Write-Offs $ 22,219.87 

Aging Report 
0-30 Days 31-60 Days 61-90 Days >90 Days Total 

$14,742.72 $21,899.80 $12,385.49 $94,292.40 $143,320.41 



General Fund 
none 

Capital Projects Fund 
none 

Miscellaneous Income 
General Fund 

none 

Capital Projects Fund 
Robert Goodwin $1,216.02 reimburse charge on wrong card 
All Terrain Motorsports $30,798.00 UTV 

Checks Issued Between Board Meetings 



Date Name Amount

1110 · Alpine Bank-Checking GF
06/03/2024 Lowe's -710.74
06/03/2024 Staples Business Credit -542.25
06/03/2024 Bamboo HR -10.84
06/03/2024 Staples Business Credit -440.18
06/03/2024 Valley Waste Solutions, LLC -145.68
06/03/2024 Mountain Waste & Recycling -67.47
06/03/2024 Mountain Waste & Recycling -67.47
06/03/2024 Mountain Waste & Recycling -945.96
06/03/2024 Thyssenkrupp Elevator Corporation -630.37
06/03/2024 Town of Carbondale -230.02
06/03/2024 Town of Carbondale -141.30
06/03/2024 Town of Carbondale -49.50
06/03/2024 Xcel Energy -1,774.83
06/03/2024 Xcel Energy -26.05
06/04/2024 Comcast (epay) 0.00
06/06/2024 Bamboo HR -1,004.94
06/06/2024 Ferguson Enterprises -72.91
06/06/2024 Holy Cross Energy -42.74
06/06/2024 Holy Cross Energy -30.84
06/06/2024 Holy Cross Energy -5.38
06/06/2024 Holy Cross Energy -50.99
06/06/2024 Holy Cross Energy -182.73
06/08/2024 Intermedia -901.50
06/13/2024 Comcast (epay) -21.14
06/14/2024 Cenex Fleetcard -3,294.52
06/17/2024 Granite Telecommunications -735.78
06/19/2024 Lumen/Century Link Business -52.62
06/20/2024 Comcast (epay) -126.78
06/21/2024 Amazon Business -1,092.33
06/24/2024 Comcast (epay) -299.07
06/24/2024 Xerox Corporation -187.71
06/24/2024 Holy Cross Energy -246.89
06/25/2024 UMB -10,501.18
06/25/2024 Pinnacol Assurance -11,597.74
06/26/2024 Redstone Water & Sanitation District -312.00
06/27/2024 Ferguson Enterprises -1,010.07
06/27/2024 Staples Business Credit -528.88
06/27/2024 Amazon Business -473.19
06/27/2024 Black Hills Energy -122.11
06/30/2024 Xerox Corporation -60.85
06/30/2024 Xerox Corporation -351.60

Total 1110 · Alpine Bank-Checking GF -39,089.15

TOTAL -39,089.15

6:13 PM Carbondale & Rural Fire Protection District

07/04/24 Electronic Payments
Accrual Basis June 2024



Num Date Name Amount

1110 · Alpine Bank-Checking GF
42609 07/10/2024 Ace Hardware -373.80
42610 07/10/2024 Aladtec, LLC -4,012.00
42611 07/10/2024 Bound Tree Medical, LLC -1,343.45
42612 07/10/2024 Braun NW, Inc. -628.50
42613 07/10/2024 Cedar Networks -915.99
42614 07/10/2024 Century Link -308.85
42615 07/10/2024 Colorado Division of Fire Prevention & Co -200.00
42616 07/10/2024 Colorado Firecamp, Inc. -535.00
42617 07/10/2024 Comcast -28.45
42618 07/10/2024 Commercial Tire Service, Inc. -1,192.85
42619 07/10/2024 ECOS Environmental, Inc. -939.06
42620 07/10/2024 Elite Building Care, Inc. -1,560.00
42621 07/10/2024 Gold River Training LLC -440.00
42622 07/10/2024 Graves Consulting -3,500.00
42623 07/10/2024 Grounds and Gardens -1,695.00
42624 07/10/2024 Heather Basham -37.00
42625 07/10/2024 Ikon Fire, LLC -13,748.60
42626 07/10/2024 Kathlene Bernat -162.91
42627 07/10/2024 Kroger - King Soopers Customer Charges -10.00
42628 07/10/2024 Life Assist, Inc. -1,060.78
42629 07/10/2024 Marble Water Company -130.00
42630 07/10/2024 Merchology -16.00
42631 07/10/2024 Mountain Pest Control, Inc. -44.00
42632 07/10/2024 Napa Auto Parts -2,358.28
42633 07/10/2024 Phil Vaughn Construction Management, Inc. -3,161.21
42634 07/10/2024 Roaring Fork Valley Co-Op -7,209.61
42635 07/10/2024 Rosenbauer Minnesota, LLC -1,227.66
42636 07/10/2024 Streamline -500.00
42637 07/10/2024 Stryker Sales Corporation -1,056.38
42638 07/10/2024 The Paint Store, Inc. -45.56
42639 07/10/2024 UL LLC -14,242.90

Total 1110 · Alpine Bank-Checking GF -62,683.84

TOTAL -62,683.84

6:08 PM Carbondale & Rural Fire Protection District

07/04/24 General Fund Check Register
Accrual Basis July 10, 2024



Date Num Name Amount

1110 · Alpine Bank
07/05/2024 5337 A4 Architects, LLC -3,188.75
07/05/2024 5338 ACM Consulting & Engineering -2,405.16
07/05/2024 5339 Alpine Bank -58,916.03
07/05/2024 5340 CTL Thompson. Inc. -330.00
07/05/2024 5341 Jeff Johnson Architectural PC -2,275.00
07/05/2024 5342 Motorola Solutions, Inc. -5,866.75
07/05/2024 5343 Phil Vaughn Construction Management, Inc. -11,495.87
07/05/2024 5344 PNCI Construction, Inc. -11,019.63
07/05/2024 5345 Sopris Engineering,  LLC -393.75

Total 1110 · Alpine Bank -95,890.94

TOTAL -95,890.94

Capital Projects Fund
Check Register

July 1 - 10, 2024



Jan - Dec 24 Budget $ Over Budget % of Budget

Income
4000 · Taxes

4010 · Property Tax 4,202,455.63 6,700,679.00 -2,498,223.37 62.7%
4011 · Temporary Tax Credit 0.00 -647,979.00 647,979.00 0.0%
4020 · Specific Ownership Tax 167,955.86 300,000.00 -132,044.14 56.0%
4030 · Interest & Penalities 1,727.17 2,000.00 -272.83 86.4%
4040 · Deliquent Tax 0.00 1,000.00 -1,000.00 0.0%
4050 · Abated Tax 12,321.00 12,321.00 0.00 100.0%
4060 · Gallagher Override 410,495.00 410,495.00 0.00 100.0%
4070 · Exempt Personal Property 4,691.94 5,143.00 -451.06 91.2%
4071 · Backfill 498,996.60

Total 4000 · Taxes 5,298,643.20 6,783,659.00 -1,485,015.80 78.1%

4200 · Other Revenue
4210 · Ambulance Service 185,206.81 500,000.00 -314,793.19 37.0%
4211 · Ambulance Collections after WO 5,637.04
4220 · Wildfire Contracts 0.00 10,000.00 -10,000.00 0.0%
4250 · Interest 30,665.62 20,000.00 10,665.62 153.3%
4300 · Building Rentals 11,375.00 21,000.00 -9,625.00 54.2%
4350 · Grants & Contributions 304.52 1,000.00 -695.48 30.5%
4360 · Training Reimbursements 4,755.94 500.00 4,255.94 951.2%
4361 · CPR training Income 575.00
4798 · Volunteer Fund 0.00 1,000.00 -1,000.00 0.0%
4799 · Vending Machine 502.30 1,000.00 -497.70 50.2%
4800 · Miscellaneous 5,640.53 5,000.00 640.53 112.8%

Total 4200 · Other Revenue 244,662.76 559,500.00 -314,837.24 43.7%

Total Income 5,543,305.96 7,343,159.00 -1,799,853.04 75.5%

Gross Profit 5,543,305.96 7,343,159.00 -1,799,853.04 75.5%

Expense
5000 · Personnel

5010 · Wages
5011 · Wages 2,154,300.99 3,862,962.00 -1,708,661.01 55.8%
5012 · Seasonal Staffing 18,621.50 65,000.00 -46,378.50 28.6%
5010 · Wages - Other -500.00

Total 5010 · Wages 2,172,422.49 3,927,962.00 -1,755,539.51 55.3%

5013 · Wages - Reimburseable
5014 · Special Event Wages 1,946.38 2,000.00 -53.62 97.3%
5015 · Wildfire Contract Wages 63,149.49 5,000.00 58,149.49 1,263.0%

Total 5013 · Wages - Reimburseable 65,095.87 7,000.00 58,095.87 929.9%

5030 · Payroll Expenses 23,821.80 65,172.00 -41,350.20 36.6%
5035 · Unemployment Insurance 3,377.96 11,373.00 -7,995.04 29.7%
5040 · Health Benefits 425,540.89 737,669.00 -312,128.11 57.7%
5045 · Pension Benefits 204,900.99 374,022.00 -169,121.01 54.8%
5050 · 457 Contributions 18,673.95 32,640.00 -13,966.05 57.2%
5055 · Workers Comp 89,061.74 105,612.00 -16,550.26 84.3%
5060 · Disability 72,033.99 130,142.00 -58,108.01 55.4%
5070 · Uniforms 21,958.02 35,000.00 -13,041.98 62.7%
5075 · Volunteer Meal Program 2,462.65 2,500.00 -37.35 98.5%
5076 · LOSAP Program 0.00 6,000.00 -6,000.00 0.0%
5077 · Volunteer Fund 0.00 1,000.00 -1,000.00 0.0%

6:13 PM Carbondale & Rural Fire Protection District

07/04/24 Income Statement
January through December 2024



Jan - Dec 24 Budget $ Over Budget % of Budget

5078 · Member Incentive 8,294.96 25,000.00 -16,705.04 33.2%
5079 · Health & Wellness 96,802.91 25,000.00 71,802.91 387.2%
5080 · Board Members Pay 0.00 12,000.00 -12,000.00 0.0%

Total 5000 · Personnel 3,204,448.22 5,498,092.00 -2,293,643.78 58.3%

5100 · Administration
5110 · Treasurer's Fees 111,053.25 159,116.00 -48,062.75 69.8%
5115 · Abated Taxes 2,622.30 1,000.00 1,622.30 262.2%
5130 · Insurance 28,906.00 78,000.00 -49,094.00 37.1%
5132 · Legal 7,339.50 20,000.00 -12,660.50 36.7%
5133 · Accounting 0.00 20,000.00 -20,000.00 0.0%
5134 · Ambulance Billing Service 14,471.82 30,000.00 -15,528.18 48.2%
5135 · Election 1,029.50 0.00 1,029.50 100.0%
5140 · Office Supplies & Expenses 17,689.29 20,000.00 -2,310.71 88.4%
5150 · Fuel 10,263.92 20,000.00 -9,736.08 51.3%
5151 · Dues & Subscriptions 75,194.53 40,000.00 35,194.53 188.0%
5152 · Freight & Postage 771.69 1,000.00 -228.31 77.2%
5153 · Computer Supplies 4,717.88 7,500.00 -2,782.12 62.9%
5154 · Computer Equipment 941.79
5155 · Vehicle/Building Security 0.00 15,000.00 -15,000.00 0.0%
5156 · Meetings 7,443.26 15,000.00 -7,556.74 49.6%
5160 · Emergency Management 0.00 1,000.00 -1,000.00 0.0%
5170 · Strategic Planning 3,161.21 35,000.00 -31,838.79 9.0%
5180 · Public Outreach/Education 31,890.70 45,000.00 -13,109.30 70.9%
5181 · Website/Marketing 7,825.00 15,000.00 -7,175.00 52.2%
5182 · Translation 0.00 1,000.00 -1,000.00 0.0%
5183 · Fire/EMS Prevention 0.00 8,000.00 -8,000.00 0.0%
5184 · Fire Mitigation Projects 10,000.00 25,000.00 -15,000.00 40.0%
5190 · Vending Machine 490.74 2,500.00 -2,009.26 19.6%

Total 5100 · Administration 335,812.38 559,116.00 -223,303.62 60.1%

5400 · Fire Fighting
5401 · Wildfire Expenses, Deployments 0.00 1,000.00 -1,000.00 0.0%
5410 · Supplies/Expenses 9,130.77 20,000.00 -10,869.23 45.7%
5411 · Equipment 7,781.39 15,000.00 -7,218.61 51.9%
5412 · Firefighting PPE

5414 · Wildland PPE 8,198.88
5412 · Firefighting PPE - Other 0.00 18,000.00 -18,000.00 0.0%

Total 5412 · Firefighting PPE 8,198.88 18,000.00 -9,801.12 45.5%

5420 · Fuel 5,563.60 10,000.00 -4,436.40 55.6%
5430 · Incident Resources 1,897.36 1,500.00 397.36 126.5%
5431 · Incident Food 1,736.49 1,000.00 736.49 173.6%
5432 · Wildfire Supplies/Expenses 10.36 1,500.00 -1,489.64 0.7%
5433 · Wildland Equipment 970.10 1,500.00 -529.90 64.7%
5439 · IA Team expenses/fuel 140.46 3,500.00 -3,359.54 4.0%
5440 · Fire Investigation Supplies 11.38

Total 5400 · Fire Fighting 35,440.79 73,000.00 -37,559.21 48.5%

5500 · Medical
5510 · Supplies/Expenses 24,805.96 55,000.00 -30,194.04 45.1%
5511 · Equipment 1,329.54 1,500.00 -170.46 88.6%
5512 · EMS PPE 0.00 3,000.00 -3,000.00 0.0%
5515 · Infection Control 0.00 1,000.00 -1,000.00 0.0%
5520 · Fuel 6,231.46 14,000.00 -7,768.54 44.5%

6:13 PM Carbondale & Rural Fire Protection District

07/04/24 Income Statement
January through December 2024



Jan - Dec 24 Budget $ Over Budget % of Budget

5530 · Physician Advisor 12,000.00 12,000.00 0.00 100.0%
5540 · Rescue Equipment 485.89 2,500.00 -2,014.11 19.4%
5541 · Rescue PPE 772.89

Total 5500 · Medical 45,625.74 89,000.00 -43,374.26 51.3%

5600 · Communications
5610 · Supplies/Expenses 4,719.32 25,000.00 -20,280.68 18.9%
5611 · Communications Equipment 1,367.89 1,000.00 367.89 136.8%
5612 · Radio Programming/Services 22,246.00 10,000.00 12,246.00 222.5%
5620 · Telephone Service 11,235.44 23,000.00 -11,764.56 48.8%
5625 · Cell Phones 9,440.36 7,000.00 2,440.36 134.9%
5630 · Communications Center 18,534.00 50,000.00 -31,466.00 37.1%

Total 5600 · Communications 67,543.01 116,000.00 -48,456.99 58.2%

5700 · Training
5710 · Medical 6,942.34 10,000.00 -3,057.66 69.4%
5711 · EMT Tuitions 0.00 2,500.00 -2,500.00 0.0%
5712 · Paramedic Program 22,383.98 35,000.00 -12,616.02 64.0%
5713 · CPR training - public courses 60.01
5720 · Fire 23,578.32 15,000.00 8,578.32 157.2%
5721 · Wildfire Training 294.90 2,000.00 -1,705.10 14.7%
5722 · Rescue 5,500.00
5730 · Administration 20,899.60 25,000.00 -4,100.40 83.6%
5740 · Training Equipment 0.00 5,000.00 -5,000.00 0.0%
5750 · Training Building & Grounds 379.49 2,500.00 -2,120.51 15.2%
5760 · Food 2,063.32 1,500.00 563.32 137.6%
5790 · CMC Fire Academy 328.68 2,000.00 -1,671.32 16.4%
5791 · CMC EMT Course 0.00 2,000.00 -2,000.00 0.0%

Total 5700 · Training 82,430.64 102,500.00 -20,069.36 80.4%

5800 · Equipment
5809 · Vehicle Repairs 18,326.12 20,000.00 -1,673.88 91.6%
5810 · Vehicles Parts/Supplies/Tires 26,185.93 40,000.00 -13,814.07 65.5%
5811 · Vehicle Equipment 1,939.32
5812 · Equipment Testing 15,391.90 18,000.00 -2,608.10 85.5%
5813 · Shop Supplies 318.52
5814 · Tools 474.40
5820 · Communications Equipment 0.00 1,500.00 -1,500.00 0.0%
5830 · Maintenance Contracts 1,260.74 15,000.00 -13,739.26 8.4%
5840 · Computer Repairs/Service 4,976.06 7,500.00 -2,523.94 66.3%
5850 · Portable Equipment 90.37 1,000.00 -909.63 9.0%
5860 · Office Equipment 7,984.06 8,000.00 -15.94 99.8%

Total 5800 · Equipment 76,947.42 111,000.00 -34,052.58 69.3%

5900 · Stations/Buildings
5910 · Utilities 64,361.31 125,000.00 -60,638.69 51.5%
5911 · Equipment 3,367.98 20,000.00 -16,632.02 16.8%
5920 · Maintenance & Repairs 26,464.54 50,000.00 -23,535.46 52.9%
5940 · Supplies 6,195.62 30,000.00 -23,804.38 20.7%
5941 · Janitorial Supplies 4,835.58

Total 5900 · Stations/Buildings 105,225.03 225,000.00 -119,774.97 46.8%

6000 · Miscellaneous
6010 · Miscellaneous 31,787.64 25,000.00 6,787.64 127.2%

6:13 PM Carbondale & Rural Fire Protection District

07/04/24 Income Statement
January through December 2024



Jan - Dec 24 Budget $ Over Budget % of Budget

6050 · Transfer to CPF 100,000.00 100,000.00 0.00 100.0%
6051 · Transfer to CRF 200,000.00 200,000.00 0.00 100.0%
6100 · TABOR Emergency Reserves 0.00 203,961.00 -203,961.00 0.0%

Total 6000 · Miscellaneous 331,787.64 528,961.00 -197,173.36 62.7%

Total Expense 4,285,260.87 7,302,669.00 -3,017,408.13 58.7%

Net Income 1,258,045.09 40,490.00 1,217,555.09 3,107.1%

6:13 PM Carbondale & Rural Fire Protection District

07/04/24 Income Statement
January through December 2024



Trust Administration 

McGriff, Insurance Services 

cfhtrust@mcgriff.com 

P.O. Box 1539 

Portland OR 97207 

Phone: Toll Free 844-769-6650 

Fax: (503) 943-6622 

 

 

INSTRUCTIONS AND CHECKLIST 

FOR THE PROPER EXECUTION OF 

THE RESOLUTION AND TRUST AGREEMENT  
 

          Please use the provided copies of the Resolution and Trust Agreement without alteration.  

When changes are warranted by the Organization, please submit proposed changes to 

Trust Counsel prior to signing for review and acceptance by the Benefits Trust 

Committee. 

 

     The board/council Chair/President or authorized representative of the Organization must 

sign both the entity Resolution and IGA. 

 

   The board/council Secretary or other member must attest to the President’s signature on 

both the Resolution and IGA. If attestation is not by the Secretary, please indicate 

individual’s title in the entity. 

 

   Enter the current date on both the Resolution and Trust Agreement signature pages. 

 

   Each entity must designate on the Resolution specific individuals (not necessarily 

board/council members) to be the Primary and Alternative Trust Representatives. These 

may not be a company, and one person may not be both the Primary and Alternative 

Representative. 

 

   Please enter a current email and mailing address for the Primary and Alternative 

Representatives. You may specify the individual’s address as being in care of a 

company. 

 

    Please indicate adoption of the Resolution by two Directors on Page 2 of the Resolution 

these are shown as the Presiding Officer and attested by a second Officer. 
 

           A copy of the Resolution and one original Trust Agreement document must be returned 

to McGriff Insurance Services, the Trust Administrators at the above address. If the 

Member wishes to retain an original copy, please have duplicate originals signed at the 

same time. 

           For expediency please send an electronic copy of the Resolution and the signature page 

on the Trust Agreement to cfhtrust@mcgriff.com. 

 

PLEASE NOTE IT IS IMPORTANT THAT CURRENT REPRESENTATIVE 

AND/OR ALTERNATE INFORMATION BE MAINTAINED WITH THE 

BENEFITS TRUST ADMINISTRATOR. WE REQUEST ANY CHANGES BE 

SUBMITTED IN WRITING AS SOON AS POSSIBLE. 

mailto:lshi@mcgriff.com


 

RESOLUTION NO.    
 

A RESOLUTION ADOPTING AND ENTERING INTO THE TRUST AGREEMENT FOR 
THE COLORADO FIREFIGHTER HEART, CANCER, AND BEHAVIORAL HEALTH 

BENEFITS TRUST AND TAKING OTHER ACTIONS IN CONNECTION THEREWITH 
 

WHEREAS, under state law, specifically § 29-5-301 of the Colorado Revised 
Statutes (C.R.S.), an employer as defined therein is required to maintain certain 
firefighter heart and circulatory malfunction benefits in accordance with and subject to 
the requirements and limitations of Part 3, Article 5 of Title 29, C.R.S.; and 

 
WHEREAS, under state law, specifically C.R.S. § 29-5-402, an employer as 

defined therein may participate in the voluntary firefighter cancer benefits program to 
provide certain cancer benefits in accordance with and subject to the requirements 
and limitations of Part 4, Article 5 of Title 29, C.R.S.; and 

 
WHEREAS, under state law, specifically C.R.S. § 29-5-501, an employer as 

defined therein is required to provide a firefighter behavioral health benefits program 
in accordance with and subject to the requirements and limitations of Part 5, Article 5 
of Title 29, C.R.S.; and 

 
WHEREAS, in order to provide such benefits, an employer, which includes 

    [District/City/Town/Authority/Division/Department] 
is authorized to participate in a multiple employer health trust; and 

 

WHEREAS, the governing body of the    
[District/City/Town/Authority/Division/Department] has authority under Article XIV, § 
18(2)(a) of the Colorado Constitution, and C.R.S. § 10-3-903.5, §§ 29-1-201, et seq., 
§ 29-5-301(1), § 29-5-402(3), and/or § 29-5-501(1), as amended, to participate with 
other employers in a multiple employer health trust for the provision of such benefits 
and for related claims handling, risk management, and other functions and services 
related to such benefits; and 

 
WHEREAS, the governing body has reviewed the Trust Agreement for the 

Colorado Firefighter Heart, Cancer, and Behavioral Health Benefits Trust, a copy of 
which is attached hereto as Exhibit A, by and through which the Members (as defined 
therein) desire to establish a trust (the “Trust”) and provide a benefit plan that provides 
firefighter heart and circulatory malfunction benefits, a benefit plan that provides 
cancer benefits, or behavioral health benefits consistent with the provisions of Parts 
3, 4, and 5 of Article 5 of Title 29, C.R.S., as specified in the Colorado Firefighter Heart 
and Circulatory Malfunction Benefits Plan, Colorado Firefighter Cancer Benefits Plan, 
and the Colorado Firefighter Behavioral Health Plan (collectively, the “Plan”); and 

 
WHEREAS, the governing body finds that the payment of contributions into the 

Trust and Plan benefits for firefighters satisfy important public purposes; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Members intend that the Trust, together with the Plan, shall 
constitute an irrevocable trust exempt from taxation under Internal Revenue Code § 



 

115; and 

WHEREAS, the governing body finds that membership and participation in the 
Trust and Plan would be in the best interests of the     
[District/City/Town/Authority/Division/Department], its employees, and its taxpayers; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, the governing body by this enactment desires to adopt and enter 

into the Trust Agreement for the Colorado Firefighter Heart, Cancer, and Behavioral 
Health Benefits Trust, and to take other actions in connection therewith. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the ____________________ 

_________________________________________________ [governing body] of the  

_____________________________________ 

[District/City/Town/Authority/Division/Department]  hereby:   

 

1. Approves the contract titled Trust Agreement for the Colorado Firefighter Heart, 
Cancer, and Behavioral Health Benefits Trust, a copy of which is attached 
hereto as Exhibit A and incorporated into this Resolution by this reference (the 
“Trust Agreement”). 

 
2. Authorizes and directs the presiding officer of the governing body to execute 

the Trust Agreement on behalf of the        
[District/City/Town/Authority/Division/Department]. 

 

3. Directs that staff transmit to the Colorado Firefighter Heart, Cancer, and 
Behavioral Health Benefits Trust (the “Trust”), McGriff Insurance Services, P.O. 
Box 1539, Portland, OR 97207-1539, executed and attested copies of this 
Resolution and such Trust Agreement. 

 

4. Designates  as its initial Member Representative 
to the Trust and designates   as its initial Alternate 
Representative to the Trust, such persons having the addresses stated below. 

 
5. Representative Mailing Address:    

 
  
 
Representative E-mail address:   

 

Alternate Representative Mailing Address:    
 

  
 
Alternate Representative E-mail address:   

 

6. Understands that, with the adoption of this Resolution and subject to the 
terms of the Trust Agreement, the _____________________________ 



 

[District/City/Town/Authority/Division/Department] becomes a Member 
of the Trust, with its participation to commence effective as of the date 
determined in accordance with the Trust Agreement.  The governing 
body adopting this Resolution hereby requests, unless other dates are 
later designated by the governing body, that coverage should begin on 
the following dates for the following type of coverage: 

 
Date Coverage 

    Heart and Circulatory Award Coverage (if employer is eligible) 
 

    Cancer Award Coverage (if employer is eligible) 
 

    Behavioral Health Benefits (if employer is eligible) 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Resolution was adopted by a majority vote of the 

__________________________________________________ [governing body] of the 

______________________________[District/City/Town/Authority/Division/Department]  

on the_____________day of_______________, 20_______. 

 

Presiding Officer: 
 
 

Signature 
 
 

Print Name/Title 
 

Attestation: 
 
 

Signature 
 
 

Print Name/Title 

  



 

Exhibit A 

(Executed Trust Agreement) 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

TRUST AGREEMENT  

FOR 

COLORADO FIREFIGHTER HEART, CANCER, AND 

BEHAVIORAL HEALTH BENEFITS TRUST 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
November 24, 2014 

Amended October 22, 2015 

Amended May 17, 2017 

Amended November 12, 2019 

Amended June 30, 2022 

Amended December 8, 2022 

Amended October 18, 2023 

 



 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

ARTICLE 1 DEFINITIONS ........................................................................................................................................... 2 

1.1 ADMINISTRATOR ........................................................................................................................................................................................2 

1.2 AUTHORIZED INVESTMENT .....................................................................................................................................................................2 

1.3 BENEFICIARY ..............................................................................................................................................................................................2 

1.4 CODE .............................................................................................................................................................................................................2 
1.5 CUSTODIAN..................................................................................................................................................................................................2 

1.6 ENROLLED EMPLOYER .............................................................................................................................................................................2 

1.7 FISCAL YEAR ...............................................................................................................................................................................................2 

1.8 INVESTMENT COMMITTEE .......................................................................................................................................................................2 

1.9 INVESTMENT FUND ...................................................................................................................................................................................2 

1.10 INVESTMENT MANAGER ..........................................................................................................................................................................2 

1.11 MEMBERS OR MEMBER ............................................................................................................................................................................2 

1.12 MEMBER REPRESENTATIVE ....................................................................................................................................................................3 

1.13 PARTICIPANT ...............................................................................................................................................................................................3 

1.14 PLAN .......................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 3 

1.15 TRUST ............................................................................................................................................................................................................3 

1.16 TRUST COMMITTEE ...................................................................................................................................................................................3 
1.17 TRUST FUND ................................................................................................................................................................................................3 

1.18 TRUSTEE .......................................................................................................................................................................................................3 

ARTICLE II ESTABLISHMENT OF THE TRUST ..................................................................................................... 3 

2.1 TRUST ESTABLISHED ................................................................................................................................................................................3 

2.2 LIMIT OF INTEREST – IMPOSSIBILITY OF DIVERSION .......................................................................................................................3 

2.3 TRUST COMMITTEE’S ACCEPTANCE ....................................................................................................................................................3 

ARTICLE III TRUSTEES AND SUCCESSOR TRUSTEES ........................................................................................ 4 

3.1 TRUSTEES .....................................................................................................................................................................................................4 

3.2 SUCCESSOR TRUSTEES .............................................................................................................................................................................5 

3.3 COMPENSATION .........................................................................................................................................................................................5 

3.4 CHAIR AND OFFICERS; SUB-COMMITTEES.........................................................................................................................................5 

3.5 MEETINGS ....................................................................................................................................................................................................5 
3.6 PROXY ...........................................................................................................................................................................................................5 

3.7 NO DELEGATES ..........................................................................................................................................................................................5 

3.8 QUORUM AND VOTING .............................................................................................................................................................................5 

3.9 CONFLICTS OF INTEREST .........................................................................................................................................................................6 

3.10 OFFICE LOCATION AND MEETING PLACE ...........................................................................................................................................6 

3.11 AGENT FOR SERVICE OF LEGAL PROCESS ..........................................................................................................................................6 

3.12 RULES AND REGULATIONS .....................................................................................................................................................................6 

ARTICLE IV DUTIES OF TRUST COMMITTEE ....................................................................................................... 7 

4.1 DUTIES ..........................................................................................................................................................................................................7 

(a) Receipt of Contributions ........................................................................................................................................ 7 
(b) Management of Funds ........................................................................................................................................... 7 

(c) Payments ............................................................................................................................................................... 7 

(d) Appointment of Administrator ............................................................................................................................... 7 

(e) Appointments of Investment Committee ................................................................................................................. 7 

ARTICLE V INVESTMENT OF TRUST ASSETS ...................................................................................................... 7 

5.1 GENERAL INVESTMENT POWER/INVESTMENT FUNDS ....................................................................................................................7 

(a) Authority of Investment Committee ....................................................................................................................... 7 



 

(b) Investment Funds ................................................................................................................................................... 8 

(c) Funding Policy ...................................................................................................................................................... 8 

5.2 INVESTMENT MANAGERS ........................................................................................................................................................................8 

(a) Appointment. ......................................................................................................................................................... 8 

(b) Contractual Arrangement ...................................................................................................................................... 8 

(c) Trust Committee’s Duties. ..................................................................................................................................... 9 

(d) Failure to Direct. ................................................................................................................................................... 9 

(e) Termination of Appointment .................................................................................................................................. 9 

5.3 MANNER AND EFFECT OF DIRECTIONS ...............................................................................................................................................9 

(a) Delegation of Authority to Custodian. ................................................................................................................... 9 

5.4 AUTHORIZATION OF DESIGNEE(S). ......................................................................................................................... 9 

ARTICLE VI POWERS OF TRUST COMMITTEE ................................................................................................... 10 

6.1 GENERAL AUTHORITY .......................................................................................................................................................................... 10 
6.2 SPECIFIC POWERS ................................................................................................................................................................................... 10 

(a) Purchase of Property........................................................................................................................................... 10 

(b) Disposition of Property ....................................................................................................................................... 10 

(c) Retention of Cash. ............................................................................................................................................... 10 

(d) Exercise of Owner’s Rights. ................................................................................................................................ 10 

(e) Registration of Investments ................................................................................................................................. 10 
(f) Borrowing ........................................................................................................................................................... 10 

(g) Purchase of Contracts ......................................................................................................................................... 11 

(h) Execution of Instruments ..................................................................................................................................... 11 

(i) Settlement of Claims and Debts ........................................................................................................................... 11 

(j) Establish Rules and Policies ............................................................................................................................... 11 
(k) Trustee Insurance ................................................................................................................................................ 11 

(l) Risk Management ................................................................................................................................................ 11 

(m) Delegation. .......................................................................................................................................................... 11 

(n) Employment of Agents, Advisers and Counsel .................................................................................................... 11 

(o) Appointment of Custodian. .................................................................................................................................. 11 

(p) Power to do any Necessary Act ........................................................................................................................... 12 
6.3 AUTHORIZED INVESTMENTS ............................................................................................................................................................... 12 

(a) General Definition ............................................................................................................................................... 12 

(b) Responsibility for Compliance ............................................................................................................................ 12 

ARTICLE VII    CONTRIBUTIONS TO THE TRUST FUND ....................................................................................... 12 

7.1 MEMBER CONTRIBUTIONS ................................................................................................................................................................... 12 

7.2 CONTRIBUTION RATE STRUCTURE ..................................................................................................................................................... 12 

7.3 FAILURE TO MAKE CONTRIBUTIONS ................................................................................................................................................. 12 

7.4 TAXPAYER BILL OF RIGHTS (TABOR) COMPLIANCE ................................................................................................................ 13 

7.5 STATE FUNDING ...................................................................................................................................................................................... 13 

7.6 REPORTS .................................................................................................................................................................................................... 13 

ARTICLE VIII  PARTICIPATION AND WITHDRAWAL OF MEMBERS ............................................................... 14 

8.1 PARTICIPATION IN TRUST BY MEMBERS ......................................................................................................................................... 14 

8.2 WITHDRAWAL BY MEMBER OR ENROLLED EMPLOYER ............................................................................................................... 14 

8.3 SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS .................................................................................................................................................................. 15 

8.4 POWERS OF THE MEMBERS ................................................................................................................................................................... 14 

8.5 MEETINGS OF THE MEMBERS .............................................................................................................................................................. 14 

8.6 MEMBER OR ENROLLED EMPLOYER OBLIGATIONS ....................................................................................................................... 15 

ARTICLE IX ADMINISTRATION ............................................................................................................................... 15 

9.1 ACCOUNTING ........................................................................................................................................................................................... 15 

(a) Books and Records .............................................................................................................................................. 16 

(b) Accounting ........................................................................................................................................................... 16 



 

(c) Release. ............................................................................................................................................................... 17 

(d) Valuations ........................................................................................................................................................... 17 

(e) Reliance on Administrator ................................................................................................................................... 17 

9.2 EXPENSES .................................................................................................................................................................................................. 17 

ARTICLE X AMENDMENT OF TRUST; TERMINATION OF PLAN ............................................................. 18 

10.1 AMENDMENT OF TRUST ........................................................................................................................................................................ 18 

(a) Right to Amend. ................................................................................................................................................... 18 

(b) Exclusive Benefit ................................................................................................................................................. 18 

10.2 TERMINATION OF PLAN......................................................................................................................................................................... 18 

10.3 FINAL ACCOUNTING ............................................................................................................................................................................... 18 

ARTICLE XI MISCELLANEOUS ................................................................................................................................ 19 

11.1 NONALIENATION OF BENEFITS ........................................................................................................................................................... 19 

11.2 BENEFIT ..................................................................................................................................................................................................... 19 

11.3 EFFECT OF PLAN ...................................................................................................................................................................................... 19 

11.4 DISPUTE RESOLUTION ........................................................................................................................................................................... 19 

11.5 ENTIRE AGREEMENT .............................................................................................................................................................................. 20 

11.6 APPROVAL OF THE MEMBERS ............................................................................................................................................................. 20 
11.7 LIABILITY FOR PREDECESSOR OR SUCCESSOR .............................................................................................................................. 20 

11.8 LIABILITY FOR ACTS OF OTHERS ....................................................................................................................................................... 20 

11.9 GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY ............................................................................................................................................................... 20 

11.10 CONTROLLING LAW ............................................................................................................................................................................... 20 

11.11 EFFECTIVE DATE ..................................................................................................................................................................................... 20 

11.12 EXECUTION IN COUNTERPARTS .......................................................................................................................................................... 21 



1  

TRUST AGREEMENT 

THIS TRUST AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is entered by and between the 

undersigned Colorado state and local governmental entities (who, together with and any other 

Colorado governmental entities that becomes a participating Member under this Trust, are 

collectively the “Members”) and the undersigned trustees constituting the “Trust Committee” for 

the Trust, as defined herein (the “Trust Committee”). 
 

WITNESSETH: 
 

WHEREAS, the Members are exempt from federal income tax under the Internal Revenue 

Code of 1986, as amended, as a state or territory of the United States, or any political subdivision, 

municipality or agency thereof, or an agency of such political subdivision or municipality 

(including any corporation owned or controlled by any state or territory of the United States or by 

any political subdivision, municipality, or agency); and 

 

WHEREAS, the Members desire by and through this Agreement to provide a benefit plan 

that provides heart and circulatory malfunction benefits program consistent with the provisions of 

Part 3 of Article 5 of Title 29, Colorado Revised Statutes (C.R.S.), as amended, as specified in the 

Colorado Firefighter Heart and Circulatory Malfunction Benefits Plan, cancer benefits program 

consistent with the provisions of Part 4 of Article 5 of Title 29, C.R.S., as amended, as specified 

in the Colorado Firefighter Cancer Benefits Plan, behavioral health benefits program consistent 

with the provisions of Part 5 of Article 5 of Title 29, C.R.S., as specified in the Colorado Firefighter 

Behavioral Health Benefits Plan, and the hazardous materials trooper program consistent with the 

provisions of Part 4 of Article 5 of Title 29, C.R.S., as amended, as specified in the Hazardous 

Materials Trooper Plan (collectively, the “Plan”); and 

 

WHEREAS, the Members desire for the Trust to accept funds that shall from time to time 

be paid over to the Trust Committee in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, together with 

the earnings and profits thereon, if any, and to hold the funds in trust (the “Trust”) and to make 

disbursements from the Trust in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement and the Plan; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, the Members desire to appoint the Trust Committee as a trustee to hold and 

administer the assets of the Plan in accordance with this Agreement; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Trust Committee has agreed to serve as trustee of the trust established 

under this Agreement; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Members intend that the Trust hereby established, together with the Plan, 

shall constitute an irrevocable trust exempt from taxation under Internal Revenue Code § 115; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Members intend that the Trust hereby established, together with the Plan, 

shall constitute a multiple employer health and behavioral health trust for the purposes of Part 3, 

Part 4, and Part 5 of Article 5 of Title 29, C.R.S.; 

 



2  

NOW, THEREFORE, the Members and the Trust Committee hereby mutually covenant 

and agree as follows: 

ARTICLE I 

DEFINITIONS 
 

The following words and phrases, when used herein with an initial capital letter, shall have the 

meanings set forth below unless a different meaning plainly is required by the context. Any 

reference to a section number shall refer to a section of this Agreement unless otherwise specified. 

 

1.1 Administrator means the person, committee or entity appointed by the Trust Committee 

to serve as plan administrator of the Plan. The Administrator shall be retained by the Trust 

Committee and shall administer the Plan pursuant to an administrative services agreement 

entered into between the Administrator and the Trust Committee. 

 

1.2 Authorized Investment has the same meaning as in Section 6.3. 

 

1.3 Beneficiary means any person designated under the terms of the Plan to receive benefits 

payable upon the death of a Participant. 

 

1.4 Code means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. 
 

1.5 Custodian means Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., which shall serve as custodian for the Trust 

Fund or any successor custodian as the Trust Committee shall designate.  To the extent any 

assets are held by any custodian other than Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., such party shall also 

be considered a Custodian for the Trust.  Any Custodian must be an eligible public 

depository, pursuant to C.R.S. § 11-47-103(6), as amended, and otherwise comply with the 

Savings and Loan Association Public Deposit Protection Act, C.R.S. § 11-47-101, et seq., 

as amended. 

 

1.6 Enrolled Employer means an employer, as defined by C.R.S. § 29-5-501(1), as amended, 

that enrolls its Participant employees for the behavioral health benefit program, but is not 

a full participating Member under this Trust pursuant to Article VIII, below. 

 

1.7 Fiscal Year means the accounting year of the Trust, which shall commence on July 1 of 

each calendar year and end on June 30 of the following year.  

 

1.8 Investment Committee means the person, committee or entity appointed in accordance 

with the terms of the Trust to make and effect investment decisions under the Plan and 

Trust. Unless the Trust Committee appoints an Investment Committee, the Trust 

Committee shall be deemed to be the Investment Committee. 

 

1.9 Investment Fund means any of the separate funds established by the Investment 

Committee for the investment of Plan assets. 

 

1.10 Investment Manager means any person, corporation or other organization or association 

appointed by the Trust Committee pursuant to the terms of Section 4.1 to manage, acquire, 



3  

or dispose of the assets of an Investment Fund. 

 

1.11 Members or Member means an employer, as defined by C.R.S. §§ 29-5-301(1), 29-5-

402(3), or 29-5-501(1), as amended, that becomes a participating Member under this Trust 

pursuant to Article VIII, below. 
 

1.12 Member Representative means that person who has been designated in writing by a 

Member as its representative to the Trust. 

 

1.13 Participant means:  an employee or former employee of the Member or Enrolled 

Employer; or, an employee of an employer, as defined by C.R.S. § 29-5-501(1) as 

amended, that has not yet properly enrolled its Participant employees in the behavioral 

health benefit program. 
 

1.14 Plan means the Colorado Firefighter Heart and Circulatory Benefits Plan, the Colorado 

Firefighter Cancer Benefits Plan, the Colorado Firefighter Behavioral Health Benefits 

Program and the Colorado Hazardous Materials Trooper Program set forth in Part 3, Part 

4, and Part 5 of Article 5 of Title 29, Colorado Revised Statutes, and in the Plan Summaries 

of Benefits as such Plan may be amended from time to time. 

 

1.15 Trust means the trust established by this Agreement. 
 

1.16 Trust Committee means the Trust Committee appointed pursuant to Section 3.1 of this 

Trust Agreement, acting as a group or body. 

 

1.17 Trust Fund means the total amount of cash and other property held in the Trust under this 

Agreement. 

 

1.18 Trustee means the Trust Committee members and their successors as provided by this 

Agreement. 

 

ARTICLE II 

ESTABLISHMENT OF THE TRUST 
 

2.1 Trust Established. The Members hereby establish with the Trust Committee, as a funding 

medium for the Plan, a Trust consisting of the Trust Fund and such earnings, profits, 

increments, additions, and appreciation thereto and thereon as may accrue from time to 

time. 

 

2.2 Limit of Interest - Impossibility of Diversion. It shall be impossible at any time for any 

part of the Trust to be used for or diverted to purposes other than for the exclusive benefit 

of the Participants and Beneficiaries covered under the Plan, except that the payment of 

administration expenses may be made from Trust funds as hereinafter provided. Funds of 

the Trust may not be transferred to any other account or fund of a Member. 

 

2.3 Trust Committee’s Acceptance. The Trust Committee accepts the Trust hereby created 

and agrees to perform the duties hereby required of the Trust Committee. 



4  

 

ARTICLE III 

TRUSTEES AND SUCCESSOR TRUSTEES 
 

3.1 Trustees. The Trust shall be administered by the Trust Committee. The Trust Committee 

shall be comprised of nine (9) individual Trustees; provided, however, that the Trust Committee 

shall be deemed duly constituted and may commence operations of the Trust upon seating of and 

execution of this Agreement by four (4) initial Trustees. Each Trustee must be a Participant and 

current employee of a Member, except as provided below. Trustees shall be appointed by the Board 

of Directors of the Colorado State Fire Chiefs (“CSFC Board”) from among the following: 

 

(a) One Trustee who is a Member Representative from a fire district or fire authority 

serving an area having less than thirty thousand (30,000) in population; 

 

(b) One Trustee who is a Member Representative from a fire district or fire authority 

serving an area having more than thirty thousand (30,000) in population; 

 

(c) One Trustee who is a Member Representative from a municipality having less than 

thirty thousand (30,000) in population; 

 

(d) One Trustee who is a Member Representative from a municipality having more than 

thirty thousand (30,000) in population; 

 

(e) One Trustee who is a Participant and officer of the Colorado Professional Firefighters 

Association (“CPFF”), who is designated for appointment by CPFF; and 

 

(f) Four Trustees who are Member Representatives from four other Members of any size 

or type, who are elected or appointed officials or employees of the Member and are not 

firefighters eligible for participation in the Plan, and at least two of whom are persons 

holding full-time positions in risk management or human resources for their appointing 

Member. 

 

Nominations for Trustees from the Members and CPFF shall be made by the respective elected 

governing body of the Member (i.e., district board of directors, city council, CPFF Board of 

Directors) and be submitted to the CSFC Board at such time as the CSFC Board may provide. 

Terms of the Trustees shall be two-year, overlapping terms or until their successors have been 

appointed, except that in the initial appointment of Trustees, four of them shall serve an initial term 

of no more than two years and five of them shall serve an initial term of no more than one year so 

as to establish the staggering of terms. The term shall begin on a January 1, and end at midnight 

on a December 31, except that the initial Trustees’ terms shall begin upon the formation of the 

Trust. 

 

A vacancy shall occur on the Trust Committee when a Trustee (1) submits a written resignation to 

the Trust Committee; (2) dies; (3) ceases to be a Participant; (4) ceases to be a Member 

Representative, except in the case of the CPFF Trustee to whom such requirement (4) does not 

apply; (5) fails to attend three consecutive regular meetings of the Trust Committee without the 

Committee having entered upon the record its proceedings an approval for an additional absence 



5  

or absences, except that such additional absence or absences shall be excused for temporary mental 

or physical disability or illness; or (6) is convicted of a felony. Any vacancy on the Trust 

Committee shall be filled by appointment by the CSFC Board for the unexpired portion of the 

term. Upon appointment and written acceptance thereof, a successor Trustee shall have all the title, 

rights, powers and privileges and duties conferred or imposed upon the initial or predecessor 

Trustee. 

 

3.2 Successor Trustees. No successor Trustee need examine the accounts, records, and acts 

of any previous Trustee of any allocation of the Trust assets, nor shall such successor Trustee be 

responsible for any act or omission to act on the part of any previous Trustee. All Trustees and 

their successors from time to time acting under this Agreement shall have all the rights, powers 

and duties of the initial Trustees named in this Agreement, unless this Agreement is amended to 

provide otherwise. 

 

3.3 Compensation. The Trustees shall receive no compensation for their services rendered 

under this Agreement other than any compensation as an employee of a particular Member. The 

Trust Committee may adopt policies to reimburse Trustees for actual meeting and travel expenses 

and attendance at the Trust Committee meetings and other properly incurred expenses on Trust 

matters. 

 

3.4 Chair and Officers; Sub-Committees. The officers of the Trust Committee shall be the 

chair, vice chair and secretary. The officers shall be appointed by the Trust Committee from among 

its members. Appointment of officers shall occur at the first meeting of the Trustee Committee 

each year. The Trust Committee may establish sub-committees necessary or appropriate to the 

exercise of its powers. 

 

3.5 Meetings. The Trust Committee shall determine the time and place of its regular meetings. 

Special meetings of the Trust Committee may be called by the chair or by four (4) Trustees. The 

Trustees shall be provided with at least ten (10) days prior written notice designating the time, 

place and agenda of a regular meeting and three (3) days prior written notice designating the time, 

place and agenda of any special meeting. The manner of giving notice of meetings may include, 

without limitation, service by electronic mail to the Trustee’s e-mail address. Regular and special 

meetings of the Trust Committee may be held in person, telephonically, by other remote methods, 

or by a combination of these methods. Any meeting at which all Trustees are present in person or 

by remote methods, or concerning which all Trustees have waived notice in writing, shall be a 

valid meeting without the requirement to provide any notice.  All meetings shall be in compliance 

with the Colorado Open Meetings Law set forth at C.R.S. § 24-6-401, et seq. 

 

3.6 Proxy. Any Trustee may duly authorize in writing another Trustee to cast a vote on one 

(1) or more specific matters to be voted on at a meeting, on behalf of such Trustee. Any such 

written authorization must specify the matter or matters and be given for a specific meeting and 

may not carry over to subsequent meetings. 

 

3.7 No Delegates. A Trustee and/or the Trustee’s Member Representative may not appoint a 

delegate to serve in his or her place. 

 

3.8 Quorum and Voting. 



6  

 

(a) To constitute a quorum at any regular or special meeting of the Trust Committee 

and for any action to be valid at such meeting, there must be present in person or 

by proxy a majority of the appointed Trustees 

 

(b) Valid actions at meetings at which a quorum is present require the affirmative vote 

of a simple majority of those Trustees present and voting, except where an absolute 

majority is expressly required. Each Trustee shall cast his or her vote on each 

matter upon which action is taken, except where abstention from voting is required 

because of conflict of interest. 

 

(c) To approve the following items, an absolute majority vote (as defined below) is 

required: 

 

(1) Annual budget; 

(2) Incurring any debt other than liabilities in the ordinary course of business; 

and 

(3) Settling any litigation involving the Plan or Trust. 

An absolute majority vote is the affirmative vote of at least five (5) Trustees. 

 

3.9 Conflicts of Interest. Trustees should avoid the appearance of impropriety. A Trustee shall 

exercise care that the Trustee’s independent judgment in the discharge of Trust Committee 

responsibilities is not impaired as a result of conflicts between the interests of the Trust and the 

Trustee’s own financial interests or personal interests, or the financial interests or personal interests 

of the members of the Trustee’s family or associates. A Trustee shall not vote or decide upon any 

matter relating solely to himself or herself or vote in any case in which his or her individual right 

or claim to any benefit under the Plan is particularly involved or in which he or she otherwise has 

a conflict of interest. In the event that a Trustee believes that he or she has a conflict of interest, 

the Trustee shall disclose the conflict to the Trust Committee and shall refrain from participating 

in the matter to which the conflict relates. The minutes of the meeting where the disclosure is made 

shall reflect the disclosure and the fact of the Trustee having abstained from participation in the 

matter. A Trustee shall not use confidential information acquired in the course of the performance 

of Trust Committee responsibilities to further that Trustee’s own financial interests or personal 

interests, or the financial interests or personal interests of the members of the Trustee’s family or 

associates. 

 

3.10 Office Location and Meeting Place.  All meetings of the Trust Committee shall be held 

at a place designated annually by the Trust Committee. 

 

3.11 Agent for Service of Legal Process. The designated agent for service of legal process 

shall be Dianne Criswell, Trust Counsel, 225 E 16th Ave Suite 1000, Denver, CO 80203, or any 

successor agent as the Trust Committee shall designate. 

 

3.12 Rules and Regulations. The Trust Committee shall have the power at any regular or 



7  

special meeting to adopt rules, regulations, and policies for the administration of the Trust, and for 

the conduct of the affairs of the Trust Committee. Any rules, regulations, and policies of the Trust 

Committee shall be consistent with the written provisions of the Trust Agreement and shall be 

binding upon all persons dealing with the Trust and upon any and all persons claiming any benefits 

under the Plan. 

 

ARTICLE IV 

DUTIES OF TRUST COMMITTEE 
 

4.1 Duties. It shall be the duty of the Trust Committee: 
 

(a) Receipt of Contributions. To receive any contributions paid to it under this 

Agreement in cash or in other property acceptable to the Trust Committee. The 

Trust Committee shall not be responsible for the calculation or collection of any 

contribution required to be paid by the Member to the Trust under the Plan, but 

shall be responsible only for property actually received by it pursuant to this 

Agreement. 

 

(b) Management of Funds. To hold, invest, reinvest, manage and administer (except 

as otherwise provided herein) all contributions so received, together with the 

income therefrom and any other increment thereon, for the benefit of Participants 

and their Beneficiaries in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. 

 

(c) Payments. To direct payments under the Plan; provided, however, that the Trust 

Committee may rely upon the directions received from the Administrator, and the 

Administrator hereby indemnifies the Trust Committee from any loss, claim, 

damage or liability, including legal expenses, that may arise in connection with the 

Trust Committee’s acting upon such direction. 

 

(d) Appointment of Administrator. To appoint such person, committee or entity as 

the Trust Committee shall determine to serve as Administrator of the Plan, and to 

contract with the Administrator for provision of its services. The Trust Committee 

shall have the power to terminate the appointment of the Administrator upon 

written notice with or without cause. 

 

(e) Appointment of Investment Committee. To appoint as the Investment Committee 

such person, committee or entity as the Trust Committee shall determine to make 

and effect investment decisions under the Plan and Trust; provided, however, that 

the Trust Committee may appoint itself as the Investment Committee. 
 

ARTICLE V 

INVESTMENT OF TRUST ASSETS 
 

5.1 General Investment Power/Investment Funds. 
 

(a) Authority of Investment Committee. Except as provided in Sections 5.2 and 5.3, 



8  

the Investment Committee shall have all authority and responsibility for the 

management, disposition and investment of the Trust Fund, and the Trust 

Committee shall comply with directions of the Investment Committee. The 

Investment Committee shall not issue any directions that are in violation of the 

terms of the Plan or this Agreement. 

 

(b) Investment Funds. The Trust may be divided into one or more separate Investment 

Funds, the number, makeup, and description of which shall be determined from 

time to time by the Investment Committee. The Trust Committee shall implement, 

terminate, value, transfer to and from and allocate the gains, losses, and expenses 

among the Investment Funds in accordance with the proper directions of the 

Investment Committee, the Administrator, or their delegates, and, to the extent 

applicable under the terms of this Agreement, the directions of Investment 

Managers. 

 

(c) Funding Policy. The Trust Committee shall have responsibility for selecting or 

establishing and carrying out a funding policy and method, consistent with the 

objectives of the Plan. The Trust Committee shall be responsible for the proper 

diversification of the Trust Fund, for the prudence of any investment of Trust assets 

consistent with State law, for compliance with statutory limitations on the amount 

of investment in securities, and for assuring that any such investments meet the 

requirements of State law. 

 

5.2 Investment Managers. 
 

(a) Appointment. The Investment Committee may, but shall not be required to, 

appoint one or more Investment Managers to manage the assets of all or any one or 

more of the Investment Funds.  

 

Each such Investment Manager must be one of the following: (i) registered as an 

investment adviser under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940; (ii) a bank, as 

defined in such Act; or (iii) an insurance company qualified to perform the services 

of Investment Manager under the laws of more than one state.  

 

The Investment Committee shall obtain from any Investment Manager so appointed 

by it a written statement acknowledging all of the following:  (i) that such 

Investment Manager is or on the effective date of its appointment will become a 

fiduciary with respect to the Trust assets under its management; (ii) certifying that 

such Investment Manager has the power to manage, acquire or dispose of Trust 

assets in the manner contemplated by the contract or other written instrument by 

which its appointment is or will be effected; and (iii) certifying that it is either an 

investment adviser, a bank, or an insurance company which is qualified to be 

appointed as an Investment Manager under this Agreement. 

 

(b) Contractual Arrangement. The Investment Committee shall enter into a written 

contract or agreement with each such Investment Manager in connection with its 

appointment as such, and such contract shall be subject to such terms and conditions 



9  

and shall grant to the Investment Manager such authority and responsibilities in the 

management of the applicable Investment Fund assets as the Investment Committee 

deems appropriate under the circumstances. Without limiting the generality of the 

foregoing, such contract may establish investment objectives for the assets of the 

Investment Fund(s) under the management of the Investment Manager and may 

limit the types of assets that may be acquired or held by such Investment Fund(s). 

 

(c) Trust Committee’s Duties. With respect to each Investment Fund the management 

of which has been delegated to an Investment Manager, the Trust Committee shall 

follow and carry out the instructions of the appointed Investment Manager with 

respect to the acquisition, disposition, and reinvestment of assets of such 

Investment Fund, including instructions relating to the exercise of all ownership 

rights in such assets. 

 

(d) Failure to Direct. In the event that an appointed Investment Manager shall fail to 

direct the Trust Committee with respect to investment of all or any portion of the 

cash held in an Investment Fund under its management, the Trust Committee shall 

invest such cash only when and as directed by the Investment Committee. 

 

(e) Termination of Appointment. The Investment Committee shall have the power to 

terminate the appointment of an Investment Manager upon written notice with or 

without cause. Upon the termination of the appointment of an Investment Manager, 

the Investment Committee shall (i) appoint a successor Investment Manager with 

respect to the Investment Fund(s) formerly under the management of the terminated 

Investment Manager, (ii) direct the Trust Committee to merge or combine such 

Investment Fund(s) with other Investment Fund(s) or Trust assets, or (iii) direct the 

Trust Committee to invest the assets of such Investment Fund as the Investment 

Committee deems appropriate in accordance with the existing funding policy. 

 

5.3 Manner and Effect of Directions. 
 

(a) Delegation of Authority to Custodian. The Custodian is delegated the authority 

and responsibility for receiving and carrying out the directions of the Trust 

Committee, the Administrator, the Investment Committee, any Investment 

Manager, or their designees. With respect to any assets held by a party other than 

Trust Committee, the Trust Committee is authorized and directed to delegate to the 

Custodian the authority and responsibility for receiving and carrying out the 

directions of the Investment Committee, any Investment Manager, or their 

designees. The Trust Committee is authorized and directed to enter into such 

agreements with another Custodian as are deemed necessary or appropriate to effect 

such delegation. 

 

5.4 Authorization of Designee(s). The Administrator and the Investment Committee may 

each appoint one or more designees to act on their behalf. If a designee (or designees) is 

appointed, the appropriate committee shall furnish the Trust Committee with written 

documentation of the appointment and a specimen signature of each designee. The Trust 

Committee shall be entitled to rely upon such documentation until the Trust Committee is 



10  

otherwise notified in writing. 
 

ARTICLE VI 

POWERS OF TRUST COMMITTEE 
 

6.1 General Authority. In accordance with the directions of the Investment Committee and 

any Investment Managers as provided in Article V, the Trust Committee shall receive, 

hold, manage, convert, sell, exchange, invest, reinvest, disburse and otherwise deal with 

the assets of the Trust, including contributions to the Trust and the income and profits 

therefrom, without distinction between principal and income and in the manner and for the 

uses and purposes set forth in the Plan and as hereinafter provided. 

 

6.2 Specific Powers. In the management of the Trust, the Trust Committee shall have the 

following powers in addition to the powers customarily vested in trustees by law and in no 

way in derogation thereof; provided, all such powers shall be exercised only upon and in 

accordance with the directions of the Investment Committee and, to the extent applicable, 

any duly appointed Investment Managers: 

 

(a) Purchase of Property. With any cash at any time held by it, to purchase or 

subscribe for any Authorized Investment (as defined in Section 6.3) and to retain 

the same in trust. 

 

(b) Disposition of Property. To sell, exchange, transfer or otherwise dispose of any 

property at any time held by it. 

 

(c) Retention of Cash. To hold cash without interest in administrative accounts for 

contribution and distribution processing in such amounts as may be reasonable and 

necessary for the proper operation of the Plan and the Trust. 

 

(d) Exercise of Owner’s Rights. The Members acknowledge and agree that the Trust 

Committee shall have the right or power to vote proxies appurtenant to securities 

that it holds. The Members acknowledge and agree that the Trust Committee shall 

have the power to make any review of, or consider the propriety of, holding or 

selling any assets held in the Trust Fund in response to any tender offer, conversion 

privilege, rights offering, merger, exchange, public offering and/or any proxy 

action for any of such assets. 
 

(e) Registration of Investments. To cause any stock, bond, other security or other 

property held as part of the Trust to be registered in its own name or in the name of 

one or more of its nominees; provided, the books and records of the Trust 

Committee shall at all times show that all such investments are part of the Trust. 

 

(f) Borrowing. To the extent permitted by State law and at the direction of the 

Investment Committee, to borrow or raise money for the purposes of the Trust in 

such amounts, and upon such terms and conditions, as determined by the 

Investment Committee; and, for any sum so borrowed, to issue its promissory note 

as Trust Committee and to secure the repayment thereof by pledging all or any part 



11  

of the Trust Fund to the extent permitted by State law; and no person lending money 

to the Trust Committee shall be bound to see to the application of the money lent 

or to inquire into the validity, expediency or propriety of any such borrowing. 

 

(g) Purchase of Contracts. To apply for, purchase, hold, transfer, surrender and 

exercise all incidents of ownership of any insurance, re-insurance, excess or stop 

loss insurance or annuity contract that the Trust Committee determines or the 

Investment Committee directs it to purchase or that is necessary or appropriate to 

carrying out the purposes of the Plan. The Trust Committee shall endeavor to obtain 

stop loss insurance to provide coverage for payment of benefits under the Plan 

above specified per claim and aggregate limits, provided such stop loss coverage 

can be obtained at a reasonable cost as determined by the Trust Committee. 

 

(h) Execution of Instruments. To make, execute, acknowledge, and deliver any and 

all documents of transfer and conveyance and any and all other instruments, which 

may be necessary or appropriate to carry out the powers herein granted. 

 

(i) Settlement of Claims and Debts. To settle, compromise or submit to arbitration 

any claims, debts, or damages due or owing to or from the Trust, to commence or 

defend suits or legal or administrative proceedings and to represent the Trust in all 

suits and legal and administrative proceedings. 

 

(j) Establish Rules and Polices. To establish, to the extent consistent with this 

Agreement and the Plan, rules, and policies necessary or appropriate to the 

administration of the Trust or the carrying out of the powers herein granted. 

 

(k) Trustee Insurance. To purchase on behalf of the Trust Committee and the 

Investment Committee, trustees’ errors and omissions insurance or similar 

coverage in such amounts as are recommended by a licensed insurance broker for 

benefit plans and a trust of similar size and purpose. 

 

(l) Risk Management. To establish reasonable risk management policies and 

procedures. 
 

(m) Delegation. To delegate in writing fiduciary responsibilities or ministerial powers 

and duties to such officers, agents, representatives, and independent contractors as 

determined desirable, provide such delegation does not conflict with the provisions 

of this Agreement or the Plan. 

 

(n) Employment of Agents, Advisers and Counsel. To employ suitable agents, 

actuaries, auditors, accountants, investment advisers, brokers, and counsel, and to 

pay their reasonable expenses and compensation. 

 

(o) Appointment of Custodian. The Trust Committee shall designate a custodian to 

hold Trust assets. The Trust Committee may change the custodian upon an 

affirmative vote of five (5) Trustees. 

 



12  

(p) Statutory Provisions. To exercise powers and carry out obligations provided for 

in Part 3, Part 4, and Part 5 of Article 5 of Title 29, C.R.S., in matters relating to 

the administration of the Plan and Trust, upon such terms and conditions as it may 

deem in the best interest of the Trust. 

 

(q) Power to do any Necessary Act. To do all acts which it may deem necessary or 

proper and to exercise any and all powers under the Plan and this Agreement upon 

such terms and conditions as it may deem in the best interests of the Trust. 

 

6.3 Authorized Investments. 
 

(a) General Definition. “Authorized Investment” as used in this Article VI means the 

legal investments of public funds as set forth in C.R.S. § 24-75-601.1, as amended, 

and further governed by § 24-75-601, et seq., as amended. 

 

(b) Responsibility for Compliance. The responsibility for determining whether any 

investment of Trust assets complies with the terms of this Agreement and 

applicable law shall lie solely with the Trust Committee. 

 

ARTICLE VII 

CONTRIBUTIONS TO THE TRUST FUND 

7.1 Member Contributions.  Subject to the limitations of this Agreement, each Member shall pay 

or cause to be paid contributions to the Trust at such times and in the amounts determined by the 

Trust Committee as are necessary to ensure funding of the Trust is sufficient, that operation of the 

Trust is not hazardous to the public or Participants or which the Trust Committee otherwise deems 

beneficial to protect the financial condition of the Trust. The Trust Committee shall establish 

Member contributions consistent with this Agreement, the Plan and any guidelines consistent with 

this Agreement and the Plan as established by the Trust Committee from time-to-time.  The amount 

of state funding provided to the Trust as a reimbursement for the direct costs of the program as 

required by C.R.S. § 29-5-502(3) is the statutorily required base contribution for the operation of 

the behavioral health benefit program; however, a Member may consent, but is not required, to 

make a contribution for additional or supplementary behavioral health services, in excess of the 

amount of state funding for the program.   

7.2. Contributions on Annual Basis; Rate Structure. The contribution rate structure for Member 

contributions shall provide for contributions to be made on an annual basis. Contributions shall be 

sufficient to fund the projected benefits and applicable expenses for the Participants receiving 

benefits under the Plan. 

 

7.3 Failure to Make Contributions. 
 

(a) If any Member fails to make its Member contribution to the Trust within thirty 

(30) business days after the date on which they are due, such contributions shall 

bear interest from the date due at the rate of return for the three (3) month SOFR 

rate set on the date when such contribution was first due plus one percent (1%), 

compounded monthly. 



13  

 

(b) The Trust Committee has the right, upon an affirmative vote of five (5) Trustees, 

with any Trustees from a Member in default excluded from the vote, should the 

delinquent Member not cure the delinquency within thirty (30) calendar days after 

the Administrator provides written notice to the Member of its delinquency, to 

terminate: 

 

(1) Such Member’s participation in the Plan and Trust at the end of an 

additional thirty (30) calendar day notice period or the end of the Plan year 

of the Member’s delinquency, if earlier, if such delinquency is not cured; 

and 

 

(2) Upon such termination, no claims submitted by Participants of the 

delinquent Member for benefits subsequent to the date of the termination, 

shall be paid by the Trust. 

 

(c) The Trust Committee also has the right, upon an affirmative vote of five (5) 

Trustees, with any Trustees from the Member in default excluded from the vote, to 

notify the Participants of such delinquent Member that such Member’s participation 

in the Plan and Trust has been or will be terminated. 

 

(d) Nothing herein, however, shall relieve the delinquent Member of its responsibility 

for benefits payable to its Participants. 

 

7.4 Taxpayer Bill of Rights (TABOR) Compliance. This Agreement does not create a 

multiple fiscal year direct or indirect debt or other financial obligation.  Notwithstanding any term 

to the contrary, all financial obligations of a Member under this Agreement are contingent upon 

appropriation, budgeting, and availability of specific funds to discharge such obligations.  No 

Member’s contribution for any Fiscal Year shall exceed the annual contribution billed for such 

Fiscal Year unless additional funds for payment thereof have been appropriated by the Member. 
 

7.5 State Funding. For benefits required by C.R.S. § 29-5-302, no Member shall be required 

without its consent to make a contribution for a Fiscal Year in excess of the amount of state funding 

paid or payable to the Member under C.R.S. § 29-5-302(11) for that Fiscal Year.  For the program 

required by C.R.S. § 29-5-502, no Member shall be required to make a contribution without its 

consent for a Fiscal Year in excess of the amount of state funding under C.R.S. §§ 29-5-502(1) 

and (3) for that Fiscal Year.  There is reserved to the Members and to the Trust the rights set forth 

in C.R.S. § 29-5-302(12) and C.R.S. § 29-5-502(1), providing that if, at any time, the state funding 

provided for the benefit or program required by C.R.S. § 29-5-302 and C.R.S. § 29-5-502 are 

insufficient to cover the cost of the benefit or program, then the requirements of C.R.S. § 29-5-302 

and C.R.S. § 29-5-502 to maintain the benefit shall become optional pursuant to C.R.S. § 29-1-

304.5.  An Enrolled Employer must become a Member under this Trust pursuant to Article VIII, 

below, to participate in an optional program under C.R.S. § 29-5-502 and consent to make a 

contribution.  The Trust Committee may establish guidelines consistent with this Agreement 

governing any exercise of the right under said C.R.S. § 29-5-302(12) and C.R.S. § 29-5-502(1).    

 

7.6 Reports. The Trust Committee shall provide reports needed for purposes of administration 



14  

of this Agreement and the Plan. 

 
ARTICLE VIII 

PARTICIPATION, WITHDRAWAL AND OBLIGATIONS OF MEMBERS 
 

8.1 Participation in Trust by Members.  New Members may participate in the Trust, subject 

to the approval of the Trust Committee, and their participation shall be effective as of the beginning 

of the next Fiscal Year or such other date as determined by the Trust Committee.  Participation in 

the Trust is limited to those employers who are governmental entities participating for the public 

purposes set forth in Part 3, Part 4, and Part 5 of Article 5 of Title 29, C.R.S., and a Member may 

participate in the Trust for any or all such programs.  The Trust Committee reserves the right to 

require a new participating Member at the time of joining the Trust to contribute to the reserves of 

the Trust or to make such other appropriate financial contribution as determined by the Trust 

Committee. The Trust Committee may reject requested participation by any additional Member 

for any reason.  

 

To participate in the Trust, a Member must properly adopt and enter into this Trust Agreement, 

which shall be evidenced by providing to the Trust Committee: (i) a certified copy of the resolution 

or ordinance or other official action of the governing body of the Member approving and entering 

into this Trust Agreement, and (ii) a signed counterpart original of this Trust Agreement duly 

executed by presiding officer of the governing body or other authorized officer of the Member. 

 

To participate in the Trust for behavioral health pursuant to Part 5 of Article 5 of Title 29, C.R.S 

as non-Member, an Enrolled Employer must properly enroll its Participant employees, using forms 

and procedures developed by the Trust Administrator, and with the formal acknowledgment of 

enrollment by the Trust Committee thereafter.  However, this paragraph is not intended to exclude 

any Participant from accessing behavioral health program services; therefore, if the employer, as 

defined by C.R.S. § 29-5-501(a) has not yet enrolled before a Participant seeks behavioral health 

program services, the Trust Administrator may provide services subject to later verification and 

proper enrollment.    

 

8.2 Withdrawal by Member or Enrolled Employer. A Member may withdraw from 

participation in the entire Trust on the following terms and conditions: 

 

(a) Except as provided in this Section, any Member or Enrolled Employer which 

intends to withdraw from participation in the Trust must give at least ninety (90) 

days advance written notice to the Trust Committee. Upon a Member’s withdrawal 

from the Trust, any Trustees who are employees of such Member shall no longer 

serve as Trustees. 

 

(b) Upon withdrawal, the Member or Enrolled Employer shall be deemed to have 

withdrawn from participation in the entire Trust. Upon the effective date of 

withdrawal, the Member or Enrolled Employer’s Participants shall cease to 

participate in the Plan, provided, that if required by law, a Participant’s benefits or 

program utilization may be extended pursuant to, if and to the extent applicable, the 

terms and provisions of the Plan, including those Participants who have filed a 



15  

claim for or are receiving benefits or program utilization under the terms of the Plan 

prior to the effective date of the Member or Enrolled Employer’s withdrawal, in 

which case benefits shall continue subject to the withdrawing Member’s payment 

of required contributions or the effective withdrawal date of an Enrolled Employer. 

 

(c) Upon withdrawal, the Trust Committee also has the right to notify the Participants 

of such withdrawing Member or Enrolled Employer that participation in the Plan 

and Trust has ceased or will cease. 

 

(d) In the event of a withdrawal pursuant to this Section, such withdrawing Member or 

Enrolled Employer shall have no right to any of the assets, income or reserves of 

the Trust at any time, nor shall such Member have any right to a refund or rebate of 

any of its contributions to the Trust. 

 

8.3 Successors and Assigns. Upon approval of the Trust Committee, a participating Member 

may transfer or assign its participation in the Trust to any successor in interest, whether by merger, 

consolidation, reorganization, restructuring, transfer of employees, or dissolution, creation or 

consolidation of Member entities or governing boards or otherwise. 

 

8.4 Powers of Members. In addition to powers herein vested in the Members, the Members 

shall have the power to: 

 

(a) Amend the Trust Agreement by a two-thirds (2/3) vote of the Members present at 

a meeting. Written notice of any proposed amendment shall be provided to each 

Member at least forty-five (45) days in advance of any vote on the amendment. 

 

(b) Terminate the Plan and disburse its assets by a two-thirds (2/3) vote of all Members, 

pursuant to such notice and in keeping with such procedure as shall be established 

by the Trust Committee. In the case of such a vote, termination of the Plan shall be 

pursuant to provisions of Article X. 

 

8.5 Meetings of the Members. Meetings of the Members shall be held as follows: 
 

(a) Members shall meet at least once annually at a time and place to be set by the Trust 

Committee, with notice mailed to each Member and a courtesy notice to each 

Enrolled Employer at least thirty (30) days in advance. 

 

(b) Special meetings of the Members may be called by the Trust Committee upon its 

own motion and shall be called by the Trust Committee upon written request of 

thirty (30) percent of the Members, with notice mailed to each Member and a 

courtesy notice to each Enrolled Employer at least thirty (30) days in advance. 

 

(c) The chair of the Trust Committee shall preside at the meetings; the vice chair shall 

preside in the absence of the chair. 

(d) Thirty percent (30%) percent of the Members shall constitute a quorum to conduct 

business. 



16  

(e) Except for action to terminate the Plan, proxy voting shall be allowed, pursuant to 

such procedures as the Trust Committee may determine. Each Member shall be 

entitled to one vote on each issue, to be cast by its Member Representative. 

 

8.6 Member and Enrolled Employer Obligations. In addition to the other provisions, hereof, 

each Member, and any Enrolled Employer specified in a subsection, shall have the 

obligation to: 

 

(a) Pay all contributions or other payments to the Trust at such times and in such 

amounts as shall be established by the Trust Committee. Any delinquent payments 

shall be paid with interest pursuant to a policy established by the Trust Committee 

and uniformly applied. 

 

(b) Designate in writing a Member Representative and one or more alternates for the 

Members' meetings. The Representative and any alternate shall be an employee of 

the Member, except as provided in Section 3.1, and may be changed from time to 

time. Any alternate may exercise all the powers of the Representative during a 

Member meeting in the absence of the Member Representative. 

 

(c) Allow the Trust Committee and Administrator and their agents reasonable access 

to records of the Member or Enrolled Employer as required for the administration 

of Plan and Trust. 

 

(d) Cooperate fully, both Members and Enrolled Employers, with the Trust Committee 

and Administrator and their agents in matters relating to the administration of the 

Plan and Trust and the administration and coordination of benefits under the Plan. 

 

(e) Allow the Trust Committee to make decisions regarding, and to designate attorneys 

to represent the Member or Enrolled Employer in, the investigation, settlement and 

litigation of any claim within the scope of benefits or program furnished through 

the Plan. 

 

(f) Comply, both Members and Enrolled Employers, with the benefits or program 

administration, claims handling and related policies established by the Trust 

Committee. 

 

ARTICLE IX 

ADMINISTRATION 
 

9.1 Accounting. 
 

(a) Books and Records. The Administrator generally shall be responsible for keeping 

accurate and detailed records of all investments, receipts and disbursements and 

other transactions hereunder, including such specific records as shall be required 

by law and such additional records as may be agreed upon in writing between the 

Administrator and the Trust Committee. The Trust shall financially account 

separately for the following, but separate audits or financial statements are not 



17  

required:  contributions made for heart and circulatory malfunction benefits 

pursuant to Part 3 of Article 5 of Title 29, C.R.S.; contributions made for benefits 

for cancer benefits pursuant to Part 4 of Article 5 of Title 29, C.R.S.; and any 

contributions, available deposits, and estimated funding needs from state funds 

made for the benefits program for behavioral health pursuant to Part 5 of Article 5 

of Title 29, C.R.S. All books and records relating thereto shall be open to inspection 

and audit at all reasonable times by any person or persons designated by the 

Administrator, the Member, or the Investment Committee. The Trust Committee 

shall promptly provide copies of such books or records to any persons designated 

by the Administrator.  

 

(b) Accounting.  Following the close of each Plan year of the Plan, or more frequently 

as the Trust Committee and the Administrator may agree, the Trust Committee, 

with the assistance of the Administrator, shall cause to be prepared a written 

statement setting forth all investments, receipts, disbursements, and other 

transactions effected during such year or during the period beginning as of the close 

of the last preceding year. Except as may be required by statute or by regulations 

published by State or federal government agencies with respect to reporting and 

disclosure, as may be required pursuant to the terms of the Plan or this Agreement 

or as reasonably may be requested by a majority of the Members or the Investment 

Committee, no person shall have the right to demand or to be entitled to any further 

or different accounting by the Trust Committee. 

 

(c) Release. Except with regard to claims of breach of fiduciary duty, upon the 

expiration of 90 days from the date of presentation to the Members of such annual 

or other statement, the Trust Committee shall forever be released and discharged 

from any liability or accountability to anyone as respects the propriety of its acts or 

transactions shown in such account, except with respect to any acts or transactions 

as to which, within such 90-day period, a Member whose interest is affected by 

such act or transaction shall file with the Trust Committee its written disapproval. 

In the event such a disapproval is filed, and unless the matter is compromised by 

agreement of the Trust Committee, the Trust Committee shall file its statement 

covering the period from the date of the last annual statement to which no objection 

was made in any court of competent jurisdiction for audit or adjudication. The 

applicable statutes of limitation shall be available to the Trust Committee in the 

event of a claim of breach of fiduciary duty. 

 

(d) Valuations. The Trust Committee shall designate a party to be responsible for 

valuations of assets of the Trust for which prices are not readily available on a 

nationally recognized securities exchange. 

 

(e) Reliance on Administrator. The Trust Committee shall be entitled to rely on the 

Administrator and any Custodian, other than Trust Committee, for the maintenance 

and provision of all records specified in this Section. 

 

9.2 Expenses. The expenses incurred by the Trust Committee in the performance of its duties 

hereunder, including fees for legal and other services rendered and all other proper charges 



18  

and disbursements of the Trust Committee, that may be levied or assessed under existing 

or future laws upon or in respect of the Trust or any money, property or security forming 

a part of the Trust Fund, shall be paid by the Trust Committee from the Trust Fund, and 

the same shall constitute a charge upon the Trust Fund. To the extent the Member pays any 

expenses that are properly payable from the Trust Fund, the Trust Committee shall 

reimburse the Member that has made payment from the Trust Fund if requested to do so 

by the Member. 

 
ARTICLE X 

AMENDMENT OF TRUST; TERMINATION OF PLAN 
 

10.1 Amendment of Trust. 
 

(a) Right to Amend. The Members may amend this Agreement at any time or from 

time to time by the affirmative vote of two-thirds (2/3) of all Members, and any 

such amendment by its terms may be retroactive. An amendment shall require 

compliance with the terms of Section 8.4(a). An adopted amendment shall become 

effective upon the date specified in the ballot approved by the Members, without 

necessity of further written consent or signatures by the Members. Upon adoption 

of any amendment, the Trust Committee shall cause a current copy of this 

Agreement to be sent to each Member. 

 

(b) Exclusive Benefit. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no amendment shall be made 

which would authorize or permit any assets of the Trust Fund, other than such assets 

as are required to pay administration expenses, to be used for or diverted to 

purposes other than the exclusive benefit of Participants or Beneficiaries. 

 

10.2 Termination of Plan. The Trust shall continue for such time as may be necessary to 

accomplish the purposes for which it was created and shall terminate only upon the 

complete distribution of the Trust.  The Trust may be terminated as of any date (and shall 

in fact terminate upon the complete distribution of the funds of this Trust on such date or 

thereafter) by unanimous vote of the Trust Committee and approval by a two-thirds (2/3) 

vote of all Members.  Upon termination of the Trust, provided that the Trust Committee 

has not received instructions to the contrary, the Trust Committee shall liquidate the Trust 

and, after paying the reasonable expenses of the Trust, including expenses involved in the 

termination, distribute the balance thereof according to the written directions of each 

Member for the provision of benefits similar to those provided under the Plan for the benefit 

of each such Member’s Participants and Beneficiaries covered thereunder; provided, 

however, that the Trust Committee shall not be required to make any distribution until the 

Trust Committee is reasonably satisfied that adequate provision has been made for other 

outstanding payment obligations; and provided, further, that in no event shall any 

distribution be made by the Trust Committee until the Trust Committee is reasonably 

satisfied that the distribution will not be contrary to the applicable provisions of the Plan 

dealing with termination of the Plan and the Trust. 

10.3 Final Accounting. At such time as the Trust is terminated, the Trust Committee shall 

render a final accounting of the affairs of the Trust to each participating Member, and 



19  

thereafter there shall be no claim or action against the Trust Committee or any Trustee, and 

they shall have no further responsibilities or duties and shall be discharged. 

 

ARTICLE XI 

MISCELLANEOUS 
 

11.1 Nonalienation of Benefits. Neither the benefits payable from the Trust Fund nor any 

interest in any of the assets of the Trust Fund shall be subject in any manner to the claim 

of any creditor of a Participant, or Beneficiary or to any legal process by any creditor of 

such Participant, or Beneficiary; and neither a Participant nor any Beneficiary shall have 

any right to alienate, commute, anticipate or assign any right to benefits payable from or 

any interest in the Trust, except as provided in the Plan. 

 

11.2 Benefit. Except as otherwise provided in the Plan and this Agreement, no part of the Trust 

hereunder shall be used for or diverted to any purpose other than for the benefit of 

Participants and Beneficiaries or the payment of expenses as herein provided. 

 

11.3 Effect of Plan. The Trust Committee is not a party to the Plan, and in no event shall the 

terms of the Plan, either expressly or by implication, be deemed to impose upon the Trust 

Committee any power or responsibility other than as set forth in this Agreement. In the 

event of any conflict between the provisions of the Plan and this Agreement, this 

Agreement shall be deemed to be incorporated into and be a part of the Plan, and the terms 

of this Agreement shall control over any inconsistent terms of the Plan not contrary to State 

law. 

 

11.4 Dispute Resolution. 
 

(a) Disputes arising in relation to benefits under the Plan shall be resolved in 

accordance with the procedures established in the Plan. 

 

(b) The parties to this Agreement (each, a “party”) are mutually committed to 

collaborative problem solving for resolving issues that may arise among or between 

them concerning this Agreement. In the event of a dispute, the complaining party 

may notify the other party of the dispute in writing and each party to the dispute 

will each appoint a representative to negotiate in good faith to resolve the dispute. 

These negotiations between representatives of the parties shall continue until the 

earliest of: (a) the time the dispute has been resolved; (b) the designated 

representatives have concluded that continued negotiation does not appear likely to 

resolve the dispute; or (c) thirty (30) days from the date of written notice of the 

dispute. If the dispute is not resolved through direct negotiations, the parties may, 

with the consent of all parties, attempt to settle any dispute arising out of or related 

to this Agreement through mediation. Unless otherwise agreed by the parties, 

mediation shall proceed as follows: The parties may agree on a mediator. If they 

are unable to agree on a mediator within thirty (30) days of the agreement to 

mediate, the parties shall contact an agreed upon dispute resolution organization or 

service and shall use its selection process to select a mediator. Each party shall bear 



20  

its own costs of the mediation and the parties shall share the costs of the mediator. 

The mediation shall be scheduled within sixty (60) days of the agreement to 

mediate. If the direct negotiation process is unsuccessful and the parties do not 

consent to mediation or the agreed-upon mediation process does not successfully 

resolve the dispute within ninety (90) days of the agreement to mediate, the parties 

shall be entitled to pursue any other remedy allowed by law or this Agreement. 

However, no party shall pursue such a remedy without first exhausting the direct 

negotiation process. 

 

11.5 Entire Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire Agreement between the parties 

hereto with regard to the subject matter hereof, and there are no other agreements or 

understandings between the parties relating to the subject matter hereof other than those 

set forth or provided for herein.  In no event shall the dispute resolution set forth in this 

paragraph include binding arbitration in violation of C.R.S. § 24-106-109. 

 

11.6 Approval of the Members. The Members shall have the right, on behalf of all individuals 

at any time having any interest in the Trust, to approve any action taken or omitted by the 

Trust Committee. 

 

11.7 Liability for Predecessor or Successor. No successor Trustee hereunder in any way shall 

be liable or responsible for any actions or omissions of any prior Trustee in the 

administration of the Trust or the Trust Fund prior to the date such successor Trustee 

assumes its obligations hereunder, nor shall any prior Trustee in any way be liable or 

responsible for any actions or omissions of any successor Trustee. 

 

11.8 Liability for Acts of Others. No Trustee shall be liable for the acts or omissions of a 

Member, the Custodian, the Administrator, the Investment Committee or any Investment 

Manager except with respect to any acts or omissions of any such party in which the Trustee 

participates knowingly or which the Trustee knowingly undertakes to conceal, and which 

the Trustee knows constitutes a breach of fiduciary responsibility of such party. 

 

11.9 Governmental Immunity. It is specifically understood and agreed that nothing contained 

in this Agreement shall be construed as an express or implied waiver by the Trust, the Trust 

Committee, the individual Trustees, or the Members of governmental immunity or of the 

sovereign immunity of the State of Colorado or its instrumentalities or any provision of the 

Colorado Governmental Immunity Act (CGIA), C.R.S. § 24-10-101, et seq.  Liability for 

claims for injuries to persons or property arising from the negligence of the State of 

Colorado, its departments, boards, commissions, committees, bureaus, offices, employees, 

and officials shall be controlled and limited by the CGIA, C.R.S. § 24-10-101, et seq., the 

Federal Tort Claims Act, 28 U.S.C. Pt. VI, Ch. 171 and 28 U.S.C. 1346(b), and the State 

risk management statutes, C.R.S. § 24-30-1501, et seq. 

 

11.10 Controlling Law. This Agreement shall be construed according to the laws of the State of 

Colorado.  Jurisdiction and venue shall be proper in the City and County of Denver. 

 

11.11 Effective Date. This Agreement shall be effective on and after November 24, 2014.  Any 

amendment to this Agreement shall become effective upon the date specified in the ballot 



21  

approved by the Members to adopt such amendment. 
 

11.12 Execution in Counterpart. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, 

each of which shall be deemed to be an original and all of which together shall constitute 

one and the same instrument. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Member has caused this Agreement to be signed by its 

duly authorized officers or representatives as of the day set forth its signature. 

 

 

 

MEMBER 
 

 

 

 

Sign:  

By:  

Title:   

 

Attest: 

 
 

Sign:  

By:  

Title:   

 

Date of Member Adoption of Agreement: 
 

 

 

 


	July 10, 2024 Agenda
	June 12, 2024 Board Minutes
	CARBONDALE & RURAL FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT
	CONSENT AGENDA

	Jenny Cutright, Recording Secretary

	Goodwin July 2024 Chief's Report & Updates
	Wagner July 2024 Board Report
	Oliver Board of Directors Report June 2024
	Deter Board Report July
	Kennedy Board Report EMS June 2024
	Account Balances and Interest Rates
	Sheet1

	Checks Issued Misc Income
	Sheet1

	epay
	gf check register
	cpf check register
	income statement
	0-Trust-Agreement-and-Template-Resolution-October-18-2023
	July 10, 2024 Board Packet 12-13.pdf
	July 10, 2024 Agenda
	June 12, 2024 Board Minutes
	CARBONDALE & RURAL FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT
	CONSENT AGENDA

	Jenny Cutright, Recording Secretary

	Goodwin July 2024 Chief's Report & Updates
	Wagner July 2024 Board Report
	Oliver Board of Directors Report June 2024
	Deter Board Report July
	Kennedy Board Report EMS June 2024
	Account Balances and Interest Rates
	Sheet1

	Checks Issued Misc Income
	Sheet1

	epay
	gf check register
	cpf check register
	income statement
	0-Trust-Agreement-and-Template-Resolution-October-18-2023




[image: CommonLook Logo]


CommonLook PDF Compliance Report


Generated by CommonLook®PDF


Name of Verified File:


July 10, 2024 Board Packet.pdf


Date Verified:


Friday, August 23, 2024


Results Summary:


Number of Pages: 50


Total number of tests requested: 89


Total of Failed statuses: 0


Total of Warning statuses: 0


Total of Passed statuses: 238


Total of User Verify statuses: 0


Total of Not Applicable statuses: 38


Structural Results


ISO 32000-1:2008


		Serial		Page No.		Element Path		Checkpoint Name		Test Name		Status		Reason		Comments

		1						Document		Valid Document element		Passed		Document element passed.		

		2						Headings		No nested Headings		Passed		Heading tags are not nested inside one another.		

		3						Link Annotations		Link Annotations - Valid Tagging		Passed		All tagged Link annotations are tagged in Link tags.		

		4				Bookmarks->7->0,Bookmarks->8,Bookmarks->8->0,Bookmarks->14,Bookmarks->14->0,Bookmarks->14->1,Bookmarks->14->1->0,Bookmarks->14->1->0->0,Bookmarks->14->1->1,Bookmarks->14->2,Bookmarks->14->3,Bookmarks->14->4,Bookmarks->14->5,Bookmarks->14->6,Bookmarks->14->7,Bookmarks->14->7->0,Bookmarks->14->9,Bookmarks->14->10,Bookmarks->14->11,Bookmarks->14->12,Bookmarks->14->13		Link Annotations		Link Destination		Passed		The destination for this bookmark  is invalid.		Verification result set by user.

		5						Links		Includes Link Annotation		Passed		All Link tags contain at least one Link annotation.		

		6						List		Valid Children		Passed		All List elements passed.		

		7						List Item		LI - Valid Parent		Passed		All List Items passed.		

		8						List Item		LBody - Valid Parent		Passed		All LBody elements passed.		

		9						List Item		Lbl - Valid Parent		Passed		All Lbl elements passed.		

		10						Structural Issues		Alternate Text with no content		Passed		All tags with Alternate, Actual or Expansion Text have content associated with them.		

		11				Tags->0->6->1->0->0,Tags->0->6->1->2->1,Tags->0->6->1->3->1,Tags->0->6->1->4->0,Tags->0->6->1->6->1,Tags->0->6->1->7->1,Tags->0->6->1->8->1,Tags->0->6->1->9->0,Tags->0->6->1->10->1,Tags->0->6->1->11->1,Tags->0->6->1->12->1,Tags->0->6->1->14->1,Tags->0->6->1->16->1,Tags->0->6->1->17->1,Tags->0->6->1->18->1		Structural Issues		Empty Tags		Passed		A tag of type TD is empty. Consider removing the tag or running the Cleanup functionality.		Verification result set by user.

		12						Table		Valid Children		Passed		All Table elements passed.		

		13						Table		Regularity		Passed		All tables detected are regular.		

		14						Table Cells		TD - Valid Parent		Passed		All Table Data Cells and Header Cells passed		

		15						Table Rows		Parent and children are valid		Passed		All Table Rows passed.		

		16						TOC		Valid Children		Passed		All TOC elements passed.		

		17						TOCI		Valid Parent and Children		Passed		All TOCIs passed.		

		18						Form Annotations		Form Annotations - Valid Tagging		Not Applicable		No Form Annotations were detected in this document.		

		19						Other Annotations		Other Annotations - Valid Tagging		Not Applicable		No Annotations (other than Links and Widgets) were detected in this document.		

		20						RP, RT and RB		RP, RT and RB - Valid Parent		Not Applicable		No RP, RB or RT elements were detected in this document.		

		21						Ruby		Valid Children		Not Applicable		No Ruby elements were detected in this document.		

		22						THead, TBody and TFoot		Parent and children are valid		Not Applicable		No THead, TFoot, or TBody elements were detected in this document.		

		23						Warichu		Warichu		Not Applicable		No Warichu elements were detected in this document.		

		24						WT and WP		WT and WP - Valid Parent		Not Applicable		No WP or WT elements were detected in the document		





Accessibility Results



Section 508


		Index		Checkpoint		Status		Reason		Comments





  
  
WCAG 2.0


		Index		Checkpoint		Status		Reason		Comments





  
  
PDF/UA 1.0


		Index		Checkpoint		Status		Reason		Comments






HHS


		Index		Checkpoint		Status		Reason		Comments






    HHS (2018 regulations)


    		Index		Checkpoint		Status		Reason		Comments






    

    WCAG 2.1


    		Index		Checkpoint		Status		Reason		Comments







    WCAG 2.2 AA


    		Serial		Page No.		Element Path		Checkpoint Name		Test Name		Status		Reason		Comments

		1		11		Tags->0->5->0		Guideline 1.1 Provide text alternatives for all non-text content		Alternative Representation for Figures		Passed		Please verify that Alt of "Carbondale & Rural Fire Protection District Logo" is appropriate for the highlighted element.		Verification result set by user.

		2		21,27,28,29		Tags->0->10->0,Tags->0->78->1->0->0,Tags->0->78->2->1->7->0->0,Tags->0->78->4->0->0,Tags->0->78->4->1->0->0->0,Tags->0->78->4->1->1->0->0,Tags->0->78->4->1->2->0->0,Tags->0->78->6->0->0,Tags->0->78->6->1->2->0->0,Tags->0->78->8->0->0,Tags->0->78->8->1->0->0->0,Tags->0->78->9->1->0->0->0,Tags->0->78->10->0->0,Tags->0->78->10->1->3->0->0		Guideline 1.1 Provide text alternatives for all non-text content		Alternative Representation for Links		Passed		Parent tag of Link annotation doesn't define the Alt attribute.		Verification result set by user.

		3		21		Tags->0->10->0->0		Guideline 1.1 Provide text alternatives for all non-text content		Alternative Representation for Links		Passed		Please verify that Contents of "cfhtrust@mcgriff.co (mailto:lshi@mcgriff.com)" is appropriate for the highlighted element.		Verification result set by user.

		4		27		Tags->0->78->1->0->0->0		Guideline 1.1 Provide text alternatives for all non-text content		Alternative Representation for Links		Passed		Please verify that Contents of "ARTICLE II ESTABLISHMENT OF THE TRUST " is appropriate for the highlighted element.		Verification result set by user.

		5		27		Tags->0->78->2->1->7->0->0->0		Guideline 1.1 Provide text alternatives for all non-text content		Alternative Representation for Links		Passed		Please verify that Contents of " QUORUM AND VOTING " is appropriate for the highlighted element.		Verification result set by user.

		6		27		Tags->0->78->4->0->0->0		Guideline 1.1 Provide text alternatives for all non-text content		Alternative Representation for Links		Passed		Please verify that Contents of "ARTICLE V INVESTMENT OF TRUST ASSETS " is appropriate for the highlighted element.		Verification result set by user.

		7		27		Tags->0->78->4->1->0->0->0->0		Guideline 1.1 Provide text alternatives for all non-text content		Alternative Representation for Links		Passed		Please verify that Contents of " GENERAL INVESTMENT POWER/INVESTMENT FUNDS " is appropriate for the highlighted element.		Verification result set by user.

		8		28		Tags->0->78->4->1->1->0->0->0		Guideline 1.1 Provide text alternatives for all non-text content		Alternative Representation for Links		Passed		Please verify that Contents of " INVESTMENT MANAGERS " is appropriate for the highlighted element.		Verification result set by user.

		9		28		Tags->0->78->4->1->2->0->0->0		Guideline 1.1 Provide text alternatives for all non-text content		Alternative Representation for Links		Passed		Please verify that Contents of " MANNER AND EFFECT OF DIRECTIONS " is appropriate for the highlighted element.		Verification result set by user.

		10		28		Tags->0->78->6->0->0->0		Guideline 1.1 Provide text alternatives for all non-text content		Alternative Representation for Links		Passed		Please verify that Contents of "ARTICLE VII    CONTRIBUTIONS TO THE TRUST FUND " is appropriate for the highlighted element.		Verification result set by user.

		11		28		Tags->0->78->6->1->2->0->0->0		Guideline 1.1 Provide text alternatives for all non-text content		Alternative Representation for Links		Passed		Please verify that Contents of " FAILURE TO MAKE CONTRIBUTIONS " is appropriate for the highlighted element.		Verification result set by user.

		12		28		Tags->0->78->8->0->0->0		Guideline 1.1 Provide text alternatives for all non-text content		Alternative Representation for Links		Passed		Please verify that Contents of "ARTICLE IX ADMINISTRATION " is appropriate for the highlighted element.		Verification result set by user.

		13		28		Tags->0->78->8->1->0->0->0->0		Guideline 1.1 Provide text alternatives for all non-text content		Alternative Representation for Links		Passed		Please verify that Contents of " ACCOUNTING " is appropriate for the highlighted element.		Verification result set by user.

		14		29		Tags->0->78->9->1->0->0->0->0		Guideline 1.1 Provide text alternatives for all non-text content		Alternative Representation for Links		Passed		Please verify that Contents of " AMENDMENT OF TRUST " is appropriate for the highlighted element.		Verification result set by user.

		15		29		Tags->0->78->10->0->0->0		Guideline 1.1 Provide text alternatives for all non-text content		Alternative Representation for Links		Passed		Please verify that Contents of "ARTICLE XI MISCELLANEOUS " is appropriate for the highlighted element.		Verification result set by user.

		16		29		Tags->0->78->10->1->3->0->0->0		Guideline 1.1 Provide text alternatives for all non-text content		Alternative Representation for Links		Passed		Please verify that Contents of " DISPUTE RESOLUTION " is appropriate for the highlighted element.		Verification result set by user.

		17						Guideline 1.3 Create content that can be presented in different ways		No nested Headings		Passed		Heading tags are not nested inside one another.		

		18						Guideline 1.3 Create content that can be presented in different ways		Lbl - Valid Parent		Passed		All Lbl elements passed.		

		19						Guideline 1.3 Create content that can be presented in different ways		LBody - Valid Parent		Passed		All LBody elements passed.		

		20						Guideline 1.3 Create content that can be presented in different ways		Link Annotations		Passed		All tagged Link annotations are tagged in Link tags.		

		21						Guideline 1.3 Create content that can be presented in different ways		Links		Passed		All Link tags contain at least one Link annotation.		

		22						Guideline 1.3 Create content that can be presented in different ways		List Item		Passed		All List Items passed.		

		23						Guideline 1.3 Create content that can be presented in different ways		List		Passed		All List elements passed.		

		24						Guideline 1.3 Create content that can be presented in different ways		Table Cells		Passed		All Table Data Cells and Header Cells passed		

		25						Guideline 1.3 Create content that can be presented in different ways		Table Rows		Passed		All Table Rows passed.		

		26						Guideline 1.3 Create content that can be presented in different ways		Table		Passed		All Table elements passed.		

		27						Guideline 1.3 Create content that can be presented in different ways		Tagged Document		Passed		Tags have been added to this document.		

		28						Guideline 1.3 Create content that can be presented in different ways		Heading Levels		Passed		All Headings are nested correctly		

		29		33,34,35,36,41,42,43,44,45,32,40,46		Tags->0->97,Tags->0->110,Tags->0->113,Tags->0->92->10->1->1,Tags->0->97->5->1->1,Tags->0->97->5->1->1->17->1->1,Tags->0->106->1->1->1->5->1->1,Tags->0->110->16->1->1,Tags->0->110->16->1->1->0->1->1,Tags->0->113->24->1->1,Tags->0->113->30->1->1->5->1->1,Tags->0->115->0->1->1->0->1->1		Guideline 1.3 Create content that can be presented in different ways		ListNumbering		Passed		CommonLook was unable to automatically deduce the ListNumbering from content. 		Verification result set by user.

		30		33,34,35,36,41,42,43,44,45,32		Tags->0->97,Tags->0->110,Tags->0->113,Tags->0->92->10->1->1		Guideline 1.3 Create content that can be presented in different ways		ListNumbering		Passed		Please verify that a ListNumbering value of Decimal for the list is appropriate.		Verification result set by user.

		31		33,34,35		Tags->0->97->5->1->1		Guideline 1.3 Create content that can be presented in different ways		ListNumbering		Passed		Please verify that a ListNumbering value of UpperRoman for the list is appropriate.		Verification result set by user.

		32		35,40,41,45,46		Tags->0->97->5->1->1->17->1->1,Tags->0->106->1->1->1->5->1->1,Tags->0->110->16->1->1->0->1->1,Tags->0->113->30->1->1->5->1->1,Tags->0->115->0->1->1->0->1->1		Guideline 1.3 Create content that can be presented in different ways		ListNumbering		Passed		Please verify that a ListNumbering value of LowerAlpha for the list is appropriate.		Verification result set by user.

		33		38		Tags->0->103->1->1->1->4->1->1		Guideline 1.3 Create content that can be presented in different ways		ListNumbering		Passed		ListNumbering value is set to UpperRoman. CommonLook recommends setting it to UpperAlpha.		Verification result set by user.

		34		41,42,43,44		Tags->0->110->16->1->1,Tags->0->113->24->1->1		Guideline 1.3 Create content that can be presented in different ways		ListNumbering		Passed		Please verify that a ListNumbering value of LowerRoman for the list is appropriate.		Verification result set by user.

		35						Guideline 1.3 Create content that can be presented in different ways		Orientation		Passed		Document is tagged and content can be rendered in any orientation.		

		36						Guideline 1.3 Create content that can be presented in different ways		Header Cells		Passed		All table cells have headers associated with them.		

		37		7,10,12		Tags->0->2->2,Tags->0->4->8,Tags->0->6->1,Tags->0->6->3		Guideline 1.3 Create content that can be presented in different ways		Summary attribute		Passed		Table doesn't define the Summary attribute.		Verification result set by user.

		38						Guideline 1.3 Create content that can be presented in different ways		Tabs Key		Passed		All pages that contain annotations have tabbing order set to follow the logical structure.		

		39						Guideline 1.3 Create content that can be presented in different ways		Scope attribute		Passed		All TH elements define the Scope attribute.		

		40						Guideline 1.3 Create content that can be presented in different ways		Meaningful Sequence		Passed		No Untagged annotations were detected, and no elements have been untagged in this session.		

		41				Doc		Guideline 1.4 Make it easier for users to see and hear content including separating foreground from background.		Format, layout and color		Passed		Make sure that no information is conveyed by contrast, color, format or layout, or some combination thereof while the content is not tagged to reflect all meaning conveyed by the use of contrast, color, format or layout, or some combination thereof.		Verification result set by user.

		42				Doc		Guideline 1.4 Make it easier for users to see and hear content including separating foreground from background.		Minimum Contrast		Passed		Please ensure that the visual presentation of text and images of text has a contrast ratio of at least 4.5:1, except for Large text and images of large-scale text where it should have a contrast ratio of at least 3:1, or incidental content or logos
		Verification result set by user.

		43		11,21,22,23,24,30,41		Tags->0->5->0->0,Tags->0->14->1,Tags->0->15->1,Tags->0->16->1,Tags->0->17->1,Tags->0->18->1,Tags->0->19->1,Tags->0->20->1,Tags->0->21->1,Tags->0->22->1,Tags->0->23->1,Tags->0->23->2,Tags->0->24->1,Tags->0->25->1,Tags->0->25->3,Tags->0->25->5,Tags->0->25->7,Tags->0->26->1,Tags->0->32->1,Tags->0->33->1,Tags->0->33->3,Tags->0->38->1,Tags->0->42->0->1->1,Tags->0->44->0->1->1,Tags->0->45->1,Tags->0->46->0->1->1,Tags->0->47->1,Tags->0->48->1,Tags->0->49->1,Tags->0->50->0->1->1,Tags->0->53->1,Tags->0->54->1,Tags->0->55->1,Tags->0->59->1,Tags->0->62->1,Tags->0->81->1,Tags->0->107->1		Guideline 1.4 Make it easier for users to see and hear content including separating foreground from background.		Non-Text Contrast		Passed		Please verify that all graphical elements need to have a contrast ratio of at least 3:1 against adjacent colors.		Verification result set by user.

		44						Guideline 1.4 Make it easier for users to see and hear content including separating foreground from background.		Reflow		Passed		Document is tagged and content can be rendered in any device size.		

		45						Guideline 1.4 Make it easier for users to see and hear content including separating foreground from background.		Text Spacing		Passed		Document is tagged and content can be rendered by user agents supporting tagged PDFs in any text spacing.		

		46						Guideline 2.1 Make all functionality operable via a keyboard interface		Server-side image maps		Passed		No Server-side image maps were detected in this document (Links with IsMap set to true).		

		47				Doc		Guideline 2.4 Provide ways to help users navigate, find content, and determine where they are		Outlines (Bookmarks)		Passed		Number of headings and bookmarks do not match.		Verification result set by user.

		48		2		Tags->0->0->0		Guideline 2.4 Provide ways to help users navigate, find content, and determine where they are		Outlines (Bookmarks)		Passed		Heading text and bookmark text do not match.		Verification result set by user.

		49		2		Tags->0->0->5		Guideline 2.4 Provide ways to help users navigate, find content, and determine where they are		Outlines (Bookmarks)		Passed		The heading level for the highlighted heading is 2 , while for the highlighted bookmark is 1. Suspending further validation.		Verification result set by user.

		50				MetaData		Guideline 2.4 Provide ways to help users navigate, find content, and determine where they are		Metadata - Title and Viewer Preferences		Passed		Please verify that a document title of july 10 2024 board packet is appropriate for this document.		Verification result set by user.

		51						Guideline 2.4 Provide ways to help users navigate, find content, and determine where they are		Headings defined		Passed		Headings have been defined for this document.		

		52		21,27,28,29		Tags->0->10->0->0,Tags->0->78->1->0->0->0,Tags->0->78->2->1->7->0->0->0,Tags->0->78->4->0->0->0,Tags->0->78->4->1->0->0->0->0,Tags->0->78->4->1->1->0->0->0,Tags->0->78->4->1->2->0->0->0,Tags->0->78->6->0->0->0,Tags->0->78->6->1->2->0->0->0,Tags->0->78->8->0->0->0,Tags->0->78->8->1->0->0->0->0,Tags->0->78->9->1->0->0->0->0,Tags->0->78->10->1->3->0->0->0		Guideline 2.5 Input Modalities		Target Size (Minimum)		Passed		Is the target of the pointer input constrained by the line-height of non-target text, or this particular presentation of the target essential or legally required? Pass if Yes, Fail if No.		Verification result set by user.

		53				MetaData		Guideline 3.1 Make text content readable and understandable.		Language specified		Passed		Please ensure that the specified language (en) is appropriate for the document.		Verification result set by user.

		54						Guideline 3.2 Make Web pages appear and operate in predictable ways		Change of context		Passed		No actions are triggered when any element receives focus		

		55				Pages->0		Guideline 3.2 Make Web pages appear and operate in predictable ways		Header/Footer pagination artifacts		Passed		Page 1 contains content but does not define header or footer pagination artifacts. Please confirm this is correct.		Verification result set by user.

		56				Pages->1		Guideline 3.2 Make Web pages appear and operate in predictable ways		Header/Footer pagination artifacts		Passed		Page 2 does not contain footer Artifacts.		Verification result set by user.

		57				Pages->2		Guideline 3.2 Make Web pages appear and operate in predictable ways		Header/Footer pagination artifacts		Passed		Page 3 does not contain footer Artifacts.		Verification result set by user.

		58				Pages->3		Guideline 3.2 Make Web pages appear and operate in predictable ways		Header/Footer pagination artifacts		Passed		Page 4 does not contain footer Artifacts.		Verification result set by user.

		59				Pages->4		Guideline 3.2 Make Web pages appear and operate in predictable ways		Header/Footer pagination artifacts		Passed		Page 5 does not contain footer Artifacts.		Verification result set by user.

		60				Pages->5		Guideline 3.2 Make Web pages appear and operate in predictable ways		Header/Footer pagination artifacts		Passed		Page 6 does not contain footer Artifacts.		Verification result set by user.

		61				Pages->6		Guideline 3.2 Make Web pages appear and operate in predictable ways		Header/Footer pagination artifacts		Passed		Page 7 does not contain footer Artifacts.		Verification result set by user.

		62				Pages->7		Guideline 3.2 Make Web pages appear and operate in predictable ways		Header/Footer pagination artifacts		Passed		Page 8 contains content but does not define header or footer pagination artifacts. Please confirm this is correct.		Verification result set by user.

		63				Pages->8		Guideline 3.2 Make Web pages appear and operate in predictable ways		Header/Footer pagination artifacts		Passed		Page 9 does not contain footer Artifacts.		Verification result set by user.

		64				Pages->9		Guideline 3.2 Make Web pages appear and operate in predictable ways		Header/Footer pagination artifacts		Passed		Page 10 does not contain footer Artifacts.		Verification result set by user.

		65				Pages->10		Guideline 3.2 Make Web pages appear and operate in predictable ways		Header/Footer pagination artifacts		Passed		Page 11 does not contain header Artifacts.		Verification result set by user.

		66				Pages->11		Guideline 3.2 Make Web pages appear and operate in predictable ways		Header/Footer pagination artifacts		Passed		Page 12 contains content but does not define header or footer pagination artifacts. Please confirm this is correct.		Verification result set by user.

		67				Pages->12		Guideline 3.2 Make Web pages appear and operate in predictable ways		Header/Footer pagination artifacts		Passed		Page 13 contains content but does not define header or footer pagination artifacts. Please confirm this is correct.		Verification result set by user.

		68				Pages->13		Guideline 3.2 Make Web pages appear and operate in predictable ways		Header/Footer pagination artifacts		Passed		Page 14 contains content but does not define header or footer pagination artifacts. Please confirm this is correct.		Verification result set by user.

		69				Pages->14		Guideline 3.2 Make Web pages appear and operate in predictable ways		Header/Footer pagination artifacts		Passed		Page 15 contains content but does not define header or footer pagination artifacts. Please confirm this is correct.		Verification result set by user.

		70				Pages->15		Guideline 3.2 Make Web pages appear and operate in predictable ways		Header/Footer pagination artifacts		Passed		Page 16 contains content but does not define header or footer pagination artifacts. Please confirm this is correct.		Verification result set by user.

		71				Pages->16		Guideline 3.2 Make Web pages appear and operate in predictable ways		Header/Footer pagination artifacts		Passed		Page 17 contains content but does not define header or footer pagination artifacts. Please confirm this is correct.		Verification result set by user.

		72				Pages->17		Guideline 3.2 Make Web pages appear and operate in predictable ways		Header/Footer pagination artifacts		Passed		Page 18 contains content but does not define header or footer pagination artifacts. Please confirm this is correct.		Verification result set by user.

		73				Pages->18		Guideline 3.2 Make Web pages appear and operate in predictable ways		Header/Footer pagination artifacts		Passed		Page 19 contains content but does not define header or footer pagination artifacts. Please confirm this is correct.		Verification result set by user.

		74				Pages->19		Guideline 3.2 Make Web pages appear and operate in predictable ways		Header/Footer pagination artifacts		Passed		Page 20 contains content but does not define header or footer pagination artifacts. Please confirm this is correct.		Verification result set by user.

		75				Pages->20		Guideline 3.2 Make Web pages appear and operate in predictable ways		Header/Footer pagination artifacts		Passed		Page 21 contains content but does not define header or footer pagination artifacts. Please confirm this is correct.		Verification result set by user.

		76				Pages->21		Guideline 3.2 Make Web pages appear and operate in predictable ways		Header/Footer pagination artifacts		Passed		Page 22 does not contain header Artifacts.		Verification result set by user.

		77				Pages->22		Guideline 3.2 Make Web pages appear and operate in predictable ways		Header/Footer pagination artifacts		Passed		Page 23 does not contain header Artifacts.		Verification result set by user.

		78				Pages->23		Guideline 3.2 Make Web pages appear and operate in predictable ways		Header/Footer pagination artifacts		Passed		Page 24 does not contain header Artifacts.		Verification result set by user.

		79				Pages->24		Guideline 3.2 Make Web pages appear and operate in predictable ways		Header/Footer pagination artifacts		Passed		Page 25 does not contain header Artifacts.		Verification result set by user.

		80				Pages->25		Guideline 3.2 Make Web pages appear and operate in predictable ways		Header/Footer pagination artifacts		Passed		Page 26 does not contain header Artifacts.		Verification result set by user.

		81				Pages->26		Guideline 3.2 Make Web pages appear and operate in predictable ways		Header/Footer pagination artifacts		Passed		Page 27 does not contain header Artifacts.		Verification result set by user.

		82				Pages->27		Guideline 3.2 Make Web pages appear and operate in predictable ways		Header/Footer pagination artifacts		Passed		Page 28 does not contain header Artifacts.		Verification result set by user.

		83				Pages->28		Guideline 3.2 Make Web pages appear and operate in predictable ways		Header/Footer pagination artifacts		Passed		Page 29 does not contain header Artifacts.		Verification result set by user.

		84				Pages->29		Guideline 3.2 Make Web pages appear and operate in predictable ways		Header/Footer pagination artifacts		Passed		Page 30 does not contain header Artifacts.		Verification result set by user.

		85				Pages->30		Guideline 3.2 Make Web pages appear and operate in predictable ways		Header/Footer pagination artifacts		Passed		Page 31 does not contain header Artifacts.		Verification result set by user.

		86				Pages->31		Guideline 3.2 Make Web pages appear and operate in predictable ways		Header/Footer pagination artifacts		Passed		Page 32 does not contain header Artifacts.		Verification result set by user.

		87				Pages->32		Guideline 3.2 Make Web pages appear and operate in predictable ways		Header/Footer pagination artifacts		Passed		Page 33 does not contain header Artifacts.		Verification result set by user.

		88				Pages->33		Guideline 3.2 Make Web pages appear and operate in predictable ways		Header/Footer pagination artifacts		Passed		Page 34 does not contain header Artifacts.		Verification result set by user.

		89				Pages->34		Guideline 3.2 Make Web pages appear and operate in predictable ways		Header/Footer pagination artifacts		Passed		Page 35 does not contain header Artifacts.		Verification result set by user.

		90				Pages->35		Guideline 3.2 Make Web pages appear and operate in predictable ways		Header/Footer pagination artifacts		Passed		Page 36 does not contain header Artifacts.		Verification result set by user.

		91				Pages->36		Guideline 3.2 Make Web pages appear and operate in predictable ways		Header/Footer pagination artifacts		Passed		Page 37 does not contain header Artifacts.		Verification result set by user.

		92				Pages->37		Guideline 3.2 Make Web pages appear and operate in predictable ways		Header/Footer pagination artifacts		Passed		Page 38 does not contain header Artifacts.		Verification result set by user.

		93				Pages->38		Guideline 3.2 Make Web pages appear and operate in predictable ways		Header/Footer pagination artifacts		Passed		Page 39 does not contain header Artifacts.		Verification result set by user.

		94				Pages->39		Guideline 3.2 Make Web pages appear and operate in predictable ways		Header/Footer pagination artifacts		Passed		Page 40 does not contain header Artifacts.		Verification result set by user.

		95				Pages->40		Guideline 3.2 Make Web pages appear and operate in predictable ways		Header/Footer pagination artifacts		Passed		Page 41 does not contain header Artifacts.		Verification result set by user.

		96				Pages->41		Guideline 3.2 Make Web pages appear and operate in predictable ways		Header/Footer pagination artifacts		Passed		Page 42 does not contain header Artifacts.		Verification result set by user.

		97				Pages->42		Guideline 3.2 Make Web pages appear and operate in predictable ways		Header/Footer pagination artifacts		Passed		Page 43 does not contain header Artifacts.		Verification result set by user.

		98				Pages->43		Guideline 3.2 Make Web pages appear and operate in predictable ways		Header/Footer pagination artifacts		Passed		Page 44 does not contain header Artifacts.		Verification result set by user.

		99				Pages->44		Guideline 3.2 Make Web pages appear and operate in predictable ways		Header/Footer pagination artifacts		Passed		Page 45 does not contain header Artifacts.		Verification result set by user.

		100				Pages->45		Guideline 3.2 Make Web pages appear and operate in predictable ways		Header/Footer pagination artifacts		Passed		Page 46 does not contain header Artifacts.		Verification result set by user.

		101				Pages->46		Guideline 3.2 Make Web pages appear and operate in predictable ways		Header/Footer pagination artifacts		Passed		Page 47 does not contain header Artifacts.		Verification result set by user.

		102				Pages->47		Guideline 3.2 Make Web pages appear and operate in predictable ways		Header/Footer pagination artifacts		Passed		Page 48 does not contain header Artifacts.		Verification result set by user.

		103				Pages->48		Guideline 3.2 Make Web pages appear and operate in predictable ways		Header/Footer pagination artifacts		Passed		Page 49 does not contain header Artifacts.		Verification result set by user.

		104				Pages->49		Guideline 3.2 Make Web pages appear and operate in predictable ways		Header/Footer pagination artifacts		Passed		Page 50 does not contain header Artifacts.		Verification result set by user.

		105						Guideline 1.1 Provide text alternatives for all non-text content		Alternative Representation for Formulas		Not Applicable		No Formula tags were detected in this document.		

		106						Guideline 1.1 Provide text alternatives for all non-text content		Alternative Representation for Other Annotations		Not Applicable		No other annotations were detected in this document.		

		107						Guideline 1.1 Provide text alternatives for all non-text content		Alternative Representation for Forms		Not Applicable		No Form Fields were detected in this document.		

		108						Guideline 1.2 Provide synchronized alternatives for multimedia.		Captions 		Not Applicable		No multimedia elements were detected in this document.		

		109						Guideline 1.3 Create content that can be presented in different ways		Form Annotations - Valid Tagging		Not Applicable		No Form Annotations were detected in this document.		

		110						Guideline 1.3 Create content that can be presented in different ways		Other Annotations - Valid Tagging		Not Applicable		No Annotations (other than Links and Widgets) were detected in this document.		

		111						Guideline 1.3 Create content that can be presented in different ways		RP, RT and RB - Valid Parent		Not Applicable		No RP, RB or RT elements were detected in this document.		

		112						Guideline 1.3 Create content that can be presented in different ways		Correct Structure - Ruby		Not Applicable		No Ruby elements were detected in this document.		

		113						Guideline 1.3 Create content that can be presented in different ways		THead, TBody and TFoot		Not Applicable		No THead, TFoot, or TBody elements were detected in this document.		

		114						Guideline 1.3 Create content that can be presented in different ways		Correct Structure - Warichu		Not Applicable		No Warichu elements were detected in this document.		

		115						Guideline 1.3 Create content that can be presented in different ways		Correct Structure - WT and WP		Not Applicable		No WP or WT elements were detected in the document		

		116						Guideline 1.3 Create content that can be presented in different ways		Article Threads		Not Applicable		No Article threads were detected in the document		

		117						Guideline 1.3 Create content that can be presented in different ways		Identify Input Purpose		Not Applicable		No Form Annotations were detected in this document.		

		118						Guideline 1.4 Make it easier for users to see and hear content including separating foreground from background.		Content on Hover or Focus		Not Applicable		No actions found on hover or focus events.		

		119						Guideline 1.4 Make it easier for users to see and hear content including separating foreground from background.		Images of text - OCR		Not Applicable		No raster-based images were detected in this document.		

		120						Guideline 2.1 Make all functionality operable via a keyboard interface		Character Key Shortcuts		Not Applicable		No character key shortcuts detected in this document.		

		121						Guideline 2.2 Provide users enough time to read and use content		Timing Adjustable		Not Applicable		No elements that could require a timed response found in this document.		

		122						Guideline 2.3 Do not design content in a way that is known to cause seizures		Three Flashes or Below Threshold		Not Applicable		No elements that could cause flicker were detected in this document.		

		123						Guideline 2.4 Provide ways to help users navigate, find content, and determine where they are		Focus Not Obscured (Minimum)		Not Applicable		This criterion is not applicable to pdf files.		

		124						Guideline 2.5 Input Modalities		Dragging Movements		Not Applicable		This criterion is not applicable to pdf files.		

		125						Guideline 2.5 Input Modalities		Label in Name		Not Applicable		No Form Annotations were detected in this document.		

		126						Guideline 2.5 Input Modalities		Motion Actuation		Not Applicable		No elements requiring device or user motion detected in this document.		

		127						Guideline 2.5 Input Modalities		Pointer Cancellation		Not Applicable		No mouse down events detected in this document.		

		128						Guideline 2.5 Input Modalities		Pointer Gestures		Not Applicable		No RichMedia or FileAtachments have been detected in this document.		

		129						Guideline 3.2 Make Web pages appear and operate in predictable ways		Consistent Help		Not Applicable		This criterion is not applicable to pdf files.		

		130						Guideline 3.3 Help users avoid and correct mistakes		Accessible Authentication (Minimum)		Not Applicable		This criterion is not applicable to pdf files.		

		131						Guideline 3.3 Help users avoid and correct mistakes		Redundant Entry		Not Applicable		No form elements requiring redundant information detected in this document.		

		132						Guideline 3.3 Help users avoid and correct mistakes		Form fields value validation		Not Applicable		No form fields that may require validation detected in this document.		

		133						Guideline 3.3 Help users avoid and correct mistakes		Required fields		Not Applicable		No Form Fields were detected in this document.		

		134						Guideline 4.1 Maximize compatibility with current and future user agents, including assistive technologies		4.1.2 Name, Role, Value		Not Applicable		No user interface components were detected in this document.		

		135						Guideline 4.1 Maximize compatibility with current and future user agents, including assistive technologies		Status Message		Not Applicable		Checkpoint is not applicable in PDF.		






    

  
Checkpoint Description:


		Checkpoint Name 		Checkpoint Description








